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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

GROUP RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the year 2024/25 under review was
HK$186,431,000 (2023/24: HK$234,302,000) and the overall result was
a loss of HK$59,878,000 (2023/24: a loss of HK$48,172,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Similar to last year, large part of the current year’s losses was caused
by the recognition of losses of our joint ventures in Wuxi No. 1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd. in China as well as fair value losses derived from the
devaluation of the Group’s investment properties on Tai Yau Street due to
the depressed property market in Hong Kong. These losses nevertheless
do not impact our company’s cash position. However, during the current
year, our garment operation had incurred a small loss as well.

OUTLOOK

Garment manufacturing business has been challenging for the past
many years. At the present it is even more uncertain due to the U.S.
tariffs issue and the global economic and political outlook. In the coming
year, we expect further non-cash losses from our Wuxi joint venture and
from probable continuous devaluation of our Tai Yau Street property. On
the positive side, our company still maintain a healthy cash position to
weather any unforeseen circumstances.

APPRECIATION

I would like, on behalf of the Board and shareholders, to express our
appreciation to the Company’s employees for their hard work and loyal
service to the Company during the past year.

By Order of the Board

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2 Y
EEENWED N
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS = . . . . SEE - S | | ) &
2025 2024
SR RAE S E U +/=
HK$°000 HK$’000 Change
W T o BT &
Performance Indicators KB E
Revenue A 186,431 234,302 -20%
Gross profit £ H] 34,414 44,453 -23%
Gross profit margin £ | & 18% 19% -1 pp
(Loss)/profit from operations e ks18) i A (19,687) 653 -3,115%
Operating margin 2878 U A R -11% 0% -11 pp
Loss attributable to equity shareholders of 72\ m] B HE 5 A A MEAG B 48
the Company (59,878) (48,172) 24%
Net profit margin Al R -32% -21% 11 pp
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation IR FIE - BiIH - 18 K&
and amortisation (EBITDA) 1 85 H 1Y 22 A [ EBITDA | (62,464) (47,881) 30%
EBITDA margin EBITDAXR -34% -20% -14 pp
Return on total assets A R B R -5.8% —4.4% -1.4 pp
Financial Health Indicators S8R L i
Cash and cash equivalents and Hae RB &5 EY K&
bank deposits RATAF K 332,136 304,504 9%
Net current assets B E 315,478 308,974 2%
Total assets W KR 1,024,275 1,094,459 6%
Total liabilities BB 63,993 71,271 -10%
Shareholders’ equity JBE SR A 960,282 1,023,188 6%
Return on shareholders’ equity JI% SRR £ 1] R R -6.2% -4.7% -1.5 pp
Current ratio (times) TEE (fF) 7.3 7.3 0%
Shareholders’ Return Indicators JBE 3R o 3¢ i
Loss per share — basic M s 48 — B A ($0.29) ($0.23) 26%
Dividend per share (533 95! $0.02 $0.02 0%
Dividend payout IR R N/A N/A N/A
Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure BEeW R REASH
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 484 ¥ B8 (Fr JH) H 4 2,391 (4,330) -155%
Capital expenditure — other assets EAR S — HoAh g E 615 151 307%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue of our core garment business for the year ended 31 March
2025 was HK$186,431,000, a decrease of 20% as compared with
HK$234,302,000 of the year before. The operation loss for the year was
HK$19,687,000 (2023/24: a profit of HK$653,000). The losses of our
Wuxi investment and the fair value losses arising from the revaluation
of the Group’s investment properties further negatively affected our
overall performance to a total loss of HK$59,878,000 (2023/24: a loss of
HK$48,172,000).

The unstable political and economic environment, the high inflation and
interest rates, the soaring energy costs as well as manufacturing costs in
the year under review continued to affect our group’s results.

GARMENT BUSINESS

Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and Hong Kong Knitters Limited
are the two names that we use to operate our garment business.
We manufacture a wide variety of products that include men’s and
ladies’ shirts, trousers, shorts, polo shirts, T-shirts, jackets and knitted
outerwear, etc. Hong Kong is our Group’s headquarters that handles
our core garment businesses including manufacturing, trading and
sourcing. In addition to our fully owned factory in China (Panyu), we are
also working in partnership with many factories in Myanmar, Bangladesh,
Vietnam, Indonesia and Cambodia serving the needs of our customers
worldwide. Besides Panyu where we have factory, we also have office
in Hangzhou China. This office not only provides supports to our own
factory, but also monitors and collaborates with our subcontractors and
business partners around the area.

The U.S. tariffs unleashed earlier in early 2025 hit the trade abruptly and
has caused further hardships and uncertainties to our garment business
especially with U.S. orders that are used to be manufactured in China.
Our sales teams are endeavoring to relocate these orders to places like
Vietnam and Indonesia as well as to find ways and means to tackle our
customers’ increasing demand for sustainable and fashionable clothing
but in smaller quantities that reduces our profit margin.

Our China factory is operating under the name of Exquisite Knitters
(Guangzhou) Limited. Due to sharp decrease of sales orders, the factory
has been down-sizing its scale and provisions for further labour dismissal
compensation has to be set aside.

OTHER BUSINESS

Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. in which we have a 49%
shareholding is a joint venture that owns several textiles related
companies in Wuxi, China (“Wuxi Group”). The core business of the Wuxi
Group is the production of medium range to high end yarns. The Group
ended the financial year 2024/25 with a substantial loss caused by weak
export market, slow domestic demand and rising costs. Substantial
stock provision was made due to increased slow moving stock. For
the year 2025/26 export and domestic markets are expected to remain
weak. Intensive destocking of slow moving stock will impact profitability.
Profitability for next year is uncertain.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION

During the year under review, the Group’s operations continued to be
mainly financed by the internal resources.

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregated cash and cash equivalents and
bank deposits of the Group were approximately HK$332,136,000 (2024:
HK$304,504,000). As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not
have any short term and long term borrowings.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. As most of the Group’s sales, purchases, cash and
bank balances are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling or Renminbi, the Group may enter into
forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its committed future sales
denominated in the above foreign currencies against the exchange
rate fluctuation when the exposure is significant. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group has forward foreign exchange contracts hedging forecast
transactions with net fair value of HK$57,000 (assets) (2024: HK$223,000
(assets)), recognised as derivative financial instruments.

LAW AND REGULATIONS

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on our Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the
full contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated
to promoting equal opportunities for all of our employees in different
areas, including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff
promotion, transfer, and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality,
race, religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our
employees. We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and
safety legislations and we have implemented an effective and safe
working environment for our employees.

The Group complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not
identify any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to
workplace quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material nhon-compliance or
breach of legislation related to product safety.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulffill
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the
manufacturing and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of
relevant standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas
emission, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or
non-hazardous water, etc.

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate
citizen and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes.
We encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participate
in various charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its
corporate social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the
society.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

An environmental, social and governance report will be published on
the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company’s website at the same time as the publication of the annual
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a
divergence from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and
uncertainties affecting the Group are outlined below. In dealing with
these risk factors and uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with
our stakeholders with the aim of understanding and addressing their
concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be
other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could become material in
the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The principal business activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale
of garments and textiles to the customers in Europe, North America and
Mainland China. The industries in which the Group operates are affected
by the economic conditions, consumer spending, contagious disease
outbreaks and currency environment in these regions. Any combination
of these factors or continuing adverse economic conditions in these
regions may adversely affect the Group’s financial position, potential
income, asset value and liabilities.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes
in global economy and macro-economic conditions. Adequate risk
mitigation measures are in place and are constantly reviewed for
enhancement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

Currency Markets

The Group operates on a global basis and earns revenues, incurs costs
and make investments in a number of currencies. The Group’s financial
results are reported in Hong Kong dollars. The majority of reported
revenues are earned in non-Hong Kong currencies. Therefore the Hong
Kong dollar value of reported revenues, profits and cash flows may be
reduced as a result of unfavourable currency exchange rate movements.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. The details of the policy are set out in the paragraph of
“Liquidity and Financial Position”.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements
at the local, national and international level. New policies or measures
by governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the
returns delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the
commercial operation of an individual business, with a resulting loss in
revenue and profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures
are in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group, including its subsidiaries but excluding
its joint ventures, employed approximately 210 employees. Remuneration
packages are determined by reference to employees’ performance and
the prevailing salary levels in the market. In addition, the Group provides
year end double pay, provident fund scheme, medical insurance and
training to staff.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop
long-term relationships with suppliers and subcontractors based on
mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure
high quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers,
suppliers and the public.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,
quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service
to maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have
access to information about the operation and development of the Group
through annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to
provide customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which
allow the Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

IMPORTANT EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There is no other important event affecting the Group which has occurred
since the end of the reporting period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business and a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, can be found in
the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on page 4 and pages 5 to 10 of the Annual Report respectively. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 10 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
are set out in Note 25(c) to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board had resolved not to declare a payment of interim dividend
(2024: nil).

The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK2 cents (2024: HK2 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2025 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to be held on 26 September 2025. The aggregate final
dividend amounting to HK$4,135,000 (2024: HK$4,135,000), if approved
by the shareholders, is expected to be paid on or around 22 October
2025.

DISTRIBUTABILITY OF RESERVES

At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under
the provisions of section Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
was HK$230,956,000 (2024: HK$248,502,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK2 cents (2024: HK2 cents) in respect of the year ended 31
March 2025 (Note 25(b)).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$10,000 (2024: HK$12,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EXEHES

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

LREP RO

T AR B B4 B R R B E R A R A
R EE L REE T

Percentage of the Group’s total

Al 7 4 1 4 78
2025 2024
ZR AR e gy 111 K<

Sales Purchases Sales  Purchases
The largest customer BREF 13% 15%
Five largest customers in aggregate HHKEF &G 53% 51%
The largest supplier e KA RE P 18% 17%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate EEDNCY A Fa 51% 40%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chan Wing Kee

Chan Wing To

Chan Suk Man

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygm.com.hk under “Investor
Relation/Corporate Governance”.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting (“AGM”), one-third of the directors of the
Company for the time being or such higher number of the directors of the
Company to be determined by the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
directors of the Company (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The board of directors of the Company decided that three directors,
Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Mr. So Stephen
Hon Cheung will retire from the Board by rotation, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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Biographical details of the directors of the Company as at the date of
this report are set out on pages 31 to 33 of this annual report. Further
information of the directors standing for re-election proposed to be
re-elected are set out in the circular.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the
independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of their
respective independence and the Company considers the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The independent non-executive directors were appointed by the board of
directors and their remuneration is determined by the board of directors.

None of the directors who offered themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Apart from the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as set out amongst other related party transactions in note 28
to the financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model
Code”) and which were required to be entered in the register kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

g 2 By e A

MRZB_AE=HA=+—H  AQALKH*
R S 2 TN A AR ) BT e B
o8\ (7 5 SO B AR ) (T8 Bl ) 26
XVHR 2 W0 38) 2 M0y~ A0 BE R 0 B f 55
A MR8 38 5 e B SEXVER S 7 k8o 3 - &
77 A 3 AT R 5558 5 A e sy JI) (T A e
SERI) 2 8 e 2R 0 g A ) BB 32 T 2 R
ik MOVR T (BLIE 15 45 AR 4 5% 55 75 o A6 9
TEWAES HEEA 2 s IR A » WA
TR AR R R R 0SS 352 M7 2 BT
itz W R IR AW E

Number of ordinary shares

V5 B B oy 4 H

Personal Family Corporate Other

interests interests interests interests
Name of director WAL A il N B 2 XK IGHE 2% 2 vi) B % I fib B 2%
Chan Wing Fui, Peter Bk 4 486,102 11,771,955 - (i)
Chan Wing Kee Pt 7k AH 8,986,874 319,691 - ()
Chan Wing To ] 10,470,639 - - ()
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel B Kk £ 8,707,734 250,000 3,604,415 ()
Chan Suk Man B B T 3,835,716 - - U]
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley S T34 7,654,306 524,000 - ()
Choi Ting Ki SRAE A - - - -
So Stephen Hon Cheung f L - - - -
Li Guangming 2t W - . - -
Notes: Bt 5%

(i) 48,032,240 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd. (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan
Wing To, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Man and Madam
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan Family) and its
subsidiaries.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
directors or their associates had or was deemed to have any
interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its holding company, subsidiaries
or other associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities in the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). Furthermore, save as disclosed above, at no time during
the year ended 31 March 2025 was the Company or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company or any of
their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

(i) # 3£48,032,240/% 4 2~ " & 3y 75 hChan
Family Investment Corporation Ltd. (i B 7k
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of the equity-linked agreement subsisting at the end of the year
are set out in the section “Share option scheme” below.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “share option
scheme”) at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 September 2019, for
the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the growth of the Group’s operations.

According to the share option scheme, the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, to invite any director (including
executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors),
employee, customer, supplier, any person or entity that provides
research, development, other technological support to the Group, adviser
or consultant of the Group and the shareholder to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company. An offer of the grant of share
options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

The share option scheme became effective on 18 September 2019 and
remains in force for 10 years from that date. The subscription price of
the options shall be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer
of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the shares. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme at
any time during a period to be determined and notified by the directors to
each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by
the directors of the Company, there is no minimum period required for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The total number of shares available for issue under the share option
scheme as at 31 March 2025 was 20,674,768 shares which represented
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
adoption of the share option scheme. In respect of the maximum
entittement of each participant under the share option scheme, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

During the year, no share options were granted, exercised or cancelled
or lapsed under the share option scheme and no share options were
outstanding as at 31 March 2025.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

Other than the interests disclosed in the section “Directors’ Interests
In Shares” in respect of the directors, the following shareholder had
interests in 5% or more of the ordinary share of the Company in issue
as at 31 March 2025, according to the register of interests and short
positions required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

X L RN PG

AR _HE=ZA=+—H BRELAIESE
A HE A | P B B 2 B 4R AL o AR B IR R 1
5336/ M R A7 B M 1 BE 2 e iR B
N R AR T BB AT W BB 5% E A
it < R FC BRI

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares ordinary shares in

held issue

Capacity BHESBB  ACBESSER

Name of shareholder JBe 3K 45 HE 22 PEE Be 4y ¥ H Be 4w 4 e

Guangzhou Textiles Industry & BEMN& 5 L& ~%  Beneficial owner 17,806,000 8.61%
Trade Holdings Ltd. £ A RRAF HumEa A (note)
(Kt EE)

Note:  The shares were directly held by Yue Xiu Textiles Co., Ltd., a 100% owned

subsidiary of Guangzhou Textiles Industry & Trade Holdings Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are set out amongst related party transactions in note 28(a) to the
financial statements and are as follow.

Garment Transactions

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into an agreement (the
“Garment Master Agreement”) with YGM Trading Limited (“YGM Trading”,
together with its subsidiaries the “YGM Trading Group”), pursuant to
which the Group might from time to time sell knitwear and other garment
products to YGM Trading Group during the period commencing on 1
April 2023 and ending on 31 March 2025 (both days inclusive). The
purchase price payable by the YGM Trading Group to the Group for the
garment products under the Garment Master Agreement shall be payable
in cash within 30 days upon issuance of debit notes.

The annual caps for selling the garment products to the YGM Trading
Group for the two financial years ended 31 March 2025 are HK$9 million
and HK$9 million respectively.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s sales of
garment products to the YGM Trading Group amounted to HK$244,000.
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Licence Arrangement

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into a licensing agreement
with YGM Marketing Limited (“YGM Marketing”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of YGM Trading) (the “Licence Agreement”), pursuant to which,
the Company agreed to allow YGM Marketing to occupy as licensee
the premises of approximately 36,000 square feet of warehouse and
office space situated at 22-24 Tai Yau Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for a term commencing on 1 April 2023 and terminating
on 31 March 2025 (both days inclusive). The licence fees (exclusive
of government rates and rent, building management fee and other
charges) of HK$360,000 per month and the building management fee of
HK$10,800 per month payable by YGM Marketing to the Company under
the Licence Agreement shall be paid in cash on a monthly basis within 30
days upon issuance of debit notes, which shall be issued on a monthly
basis.

The annual licence fee and the annual building management fee payable
by YGM Marketing to the Company under the Licence Agreement
shall not exceed the maximum annual caps of HK$4.32 milion and
HK$130,000 respectively, which are calculated with reference to the
maximum area licensable by YGM Marketing from the Company under
the Licence Agreement. For the Company as licensor, the transaction
under the Licence Agreement is regarded as a continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the licence fee and
the building management fee paid to the Company amounted to
HK$3,000,000 and HK$90,000 respectively.

Connected relationship with YGM Trading

As certain directors of the Company and their associates are collectively
the controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of YGM
Trading and the Company, the above transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

The Company has complied with the requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of the above connected transactions.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors, the connected
transactions were entered into by the Group:

()  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned,;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where
applicable.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in accordance with Chapter 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

There are no other connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in this report in accordance with the requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BEST
PRACTICE

The Company has complied throughout the year with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 24
to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 124 of the annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to
uphold a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes
that the principles of transparency, accountability and independence are
essential for protecting the interests of the Company and maximizing
shareholder value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategic directions, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance. It also decides on matters relating to annual
and interim results, audited financial statements, notifiable transactions,
appointment and re-appointment of directors, major acquisitions and
disposals, material contracts, risk management, major financings and
borrowings, accounting and dividends policies. The Board delegates
day-to-day operations of the Company to the management of the Group
and also instructs the management to implement the Board’s decisions
and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprises six executive directors
and three independent non-executive directors. Biographical details of
the directors as well as relationships between them are set out in the
section of “Directors and Management” in this report. The independent
non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed for specific
terms.

The Company recognises that Board independence is important to
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Company has
established mechanisms to ensure independent views and inputs are
available to the Board, and such mechanisms are viewed annually by the
Board, so as to ensure their effectiveness. Under the mechanisms:

— Three out of nine directors are independent non-executive
directors. The Company has met the requirements under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors, one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has also complied
with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules which requires the number of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the board.

—  Each independent non-executive director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of his independence. The Nomination
Committee has assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive directors. The Board considers all the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

— A director (including independent non-executive director) who has
a material interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be
counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.
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TEREBRS

— In assessing suitability of the Director candidates, the Board
will consider their profiles, including their character, experience,
qualifications and time commitment; the Board will also consider
to the Board’s overall composition and skill matrix as well as the
Company’s diversity policy.

—  The Board will review each Director’'s time commitment to the
Company’s business annually.

— The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are authorised by the Board to obtain
outside legal or other independent professional advice as necessary
to assist the respective committee.

—  The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board are reviewed
during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 4, 3, 1, 1 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.

The attendance at the Board and respective Board committees’ meetings
held in the year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:
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Risk Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Management General
Board  Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee Meeting
Jol B 4 e JBe 3¢ 3 4
HPH  KBEHE  FMZRHAE  RAZRHE ZHA S
Executive directors Wh &S

Chan Wing Fui, Peter Bk & 4/4 N/A 11 11 11 11
Chan Wing Kee B 7k AL 4/4 N/A 11 1/1 1/1 11
Chan Wing To B K 3 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Chan Suk Man BIBR 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 171
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bk £ 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley JE B 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent non-executive 3 JE Hu 47 o T

directors

Choi Ting Ki B 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1
So Stephen Hon Cheung R 4/4 3/3 1/1 11 N/A 1/1
Li Guangming &S 4/4 3/3 11 1/1 N/A 1/1

The 2024 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 27 September
2024. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed out
as above. All the directors, including the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee and the
external auditor of the Company, attended the AGM to answer questions
raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows good
corporate governance practices. Voting results were posted on the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites on the day of the AGM.

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Board had a meeting
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of
executive directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND

The Board is committed to ensure that a good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision A.2.1 of the Code which are set out
below:

—
—

) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommmendations to the Board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(3) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and the
Managing Director of the Company is Madam Chan Suk Man. The roles
of the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman
of the Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and
overall business development planning. The Managing Director’s duty
is to oversee the execution of daily business activities. The division of
responsibilities at the Board level is to ensure a balance of power and
authority.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision C.1.1 of the Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the directors.
The Company provides tailored induction programme to new director
upon his appointment to equip him with the appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and to ensure that he is fully
aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the relevant law and
the Listing Rules.
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During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to
update the Directors on the new amendments to the Code and relevant
Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to the legislative
and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular basis for their
information. The Company also encourages Directors to attend relevant
seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the year, all directors participated in continuous
professional development in compliance with code provision C.1.1 of the
Code.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an
insurance policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors
and senior management are protected from any liability arising from the
performance of their duties.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the
affairs of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up
with written terms of reference. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the
expenses of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung. The members’ attendance to the Audit Committee
meeting is listed out on page 20.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s
internal control system and its execution through the review of the work
undertaken by the internal and external auditors, evaluating financial
information and related disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee has, inter
alia, reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor
the interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has
met with external auditor twice a year, in the absence of management,
to discuss any issues arising from the audit and any other matters the
auditor may wish to raise. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
independence and quality of work of KPMG and has recommended to
the Board to re-appoint KPMG as auditor for the year ending 31 March
2026.
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During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from
that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented
by the Audit Committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan
Wing Kee, and three independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming.
It was chaired by Mr. Li Guangming. The members’ attendance to the
Remuneration Committee meeting is listed out on page 20.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. It takes into
consideration factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors. It would also take into account whether the emoluments offered
are appropriate given the duties and performance of the respective
individuals concerned and whether such emoluments are competitive and
sufficiently attractive to retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing
Kee, and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi
Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired
by Mr. Choi Ting Ki. The members’ attendance to the Nomination
Committee meeting is listed out on page 20.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-election of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing
director. The Nomination Committee will consider the suitability of the
candidate on the basis of his professional qualification, skills, experience
and background.

Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out a policy of considering a number of factors when deciding on
appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience.
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Measurable objectives have been set to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. By adopting such criteria, it also
facilitates the Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the
Board to achieve gender diversity. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution (considering factors like skills, knowledge and
experience) that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine
Directors, two of whom are female, and three of whom are independent
non-executive directors and independent of management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether considered
in terms of professional background, skills and gender. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
and review the policy annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board, via the Nomination
Committee, conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and is satisfied that the Board
Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

Workforce Diversity

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total workforce of 210 employees
(including senior management), of which 32% (67) are males, and 68%
(143) are females.

While we believe our future employee recruitment should predominantly
be merit-based and do not consider it appropriate to set any target
gender ratio for our workforce, we recognise and embrace the benefits of
having a diverse workforce, and will continue to enhance the diversity of
our workforce, subject to availability of suitable candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which aims at setting out the process for the nomination of a candidate
for the Company’s directorship, in order to facilitate the constitution of the
Board with a balance of skills, knowledge, ability, experience and diversity
of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the Company.

Based on the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall assess,
among other things, the following when considering whether a candidate
is suitably qualified to be appointed as a Director before making
recommendations to the Board:

e character and integrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy;
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requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would
be considered independent;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity; and

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

The entire Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and
appointment or recommendation (as the case may be) of candidates
for the Company’s directorship, and accordingly, shall consider the
recommendations from the Nomination Committee and make a decision.

The nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates for the
Company’s directorship could be summarised as follows:

1.

The Nomination Committee should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee should rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee
performed the following work:

reviewed the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board diversity
policy of the Board;

assessed the independence of INEDs;

made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Director; and

reviewed the director’'s nomination policy of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee comprises three executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Ms. Chan
Suk Man. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter. The members’
attendance to the Risk Management Committee meeting is listed out on
page 20.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters.

See “Internal Control and Risk Management” below.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by
the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

()  financial results;

(i)  cash flow situation;

(i)  business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earnings;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;
(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group comprises 4 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior executive are set out in the
section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:
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HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0% ¢ 21,000,000 JC 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 %k 5t 22,000,000 T 3
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 35 to 43.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to statutory audit
work of the Group amounted to HK$1,341,000 (2024: HK$1,401,000),
of which a sum of HK$1,310,000 (2024: HK$1,370,000) was paid or
payable to the Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor,
KPMG and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in statutory audit and
non-audit were HK$1,310,000 (2024: HK$1,370,000) and HK$262,000
(2024: HK$253,000) respectively. The non-audit services principally
comprise tax and internal control review services provided to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding
director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout the year
under review.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management
framework, and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with
overseeing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management,
while management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems. The Risk Management Committee is
responsible for coordinating risk management activities, and to report at
least annually to the Board. The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks (including, among others, material risks relating to ESG)
from the external and internal environments at different organization
levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and extent
of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment. Action plans have been
developed and risk ownership has been assigned for each key
principal risk (including, among others, material risks relating to ESG).
The risk owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper
implementation of these action plans. The process is closely monitored
by the Risk Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks (including, among others,
material risks relating to ESG) and mitigation actions and based on the
review of the Audit Committee, the Board believes that the Company
has the ability to respond to any such changes in our business and the
external environment, and considers that the Group’s risk management
and internal control system was effective and adequate during the year
under review.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had
implemented procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information so that potential inside information
can be promptly identified and escalated up for deciding whether an
announcement should be made in order to ensure compliance with
the continuous obligations under the Listing Rules and the statutory
obligation to disclose information under the SFO.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external
consultant to perform internal control review services. The external
consultant has assisted the Group to perform a review of the
effectiveness of internal controls system for certain selected processes.
The assessment results and proposed improvement opportunities were
discussed and agreed with Management and were reported to the Audit
Committee.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.3 of the Code, the Board has
adopted a whistleblowing policy. The policy provides formal channel and
procedures to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees
of the Group and those parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers
and suppliers), in confidence and anonymity. The procedures enable the
whistleblowers to report the possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Group directly addressed to relevant personnel.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.4 of the Code, the Board had
adopted an anti-corruption policy. The policy sets out the guidelines to
prevent corruptive practices and raise employees’ awareness regarding
such matter, and sets out the expectations and appropriate procedures
of engaging third parties, and standards relating to anti-bribery and
anti-corruption.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the
Vice Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction
and professional development of directors. The Company Secretary
also keeps proper records of all Board and Committee meetings.
The biography of the Company Secretary is set out on page 34. The
Company Secretary has undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional
training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important
event as it provides an opportunity for direct communications between
its shareholders and the Board. At the Company’s 2024 annual general
meeting, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk
Management Committee as well as the external auditor were present to
answer questions raised by shareholders.

The Company also maintains a website at www.ygm.com.hk which
enables the shareholders, investors and the general public to have
access to the information of the Company.

A shareholder communication policy reflecting the current practices
of the Company for communication with its shareholders is available
on the Company’s website. During the year under review, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the policy including
steps taken at general meetings, the handling of enquiries received
from the shareholders, the dissemination of information in relation to the
Group, and the channels of communications between the Company and
the shareholders. The Board considered that the policy was properly
implemented and effective.
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CHANGES IN THE COMPANY’S
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

No amendments are made to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
shareholders are set out in, among other things, the Article of Association
of the Company and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”)

Article 67 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that
an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on requisition, as
provided by the Companies Ordinance. According to section 566 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors of the Company are required to
call a general meeting if the Company has received requests to do so
from shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for
a general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered
office of the Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygm.com.hk
and must be authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must
call a general meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the
requests to do so. The meeting called must be held on a date not more
than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the
Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for
handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited
22 Tai Yau Street

San Po Kong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygm.com.hk
Telephone: (852) 2327 5111
Facsimile: (852) 2352 2286

Shareholders may also make enquires with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA

Aged 79, Mr. Chan received a Master’s degree in Administrative Science
from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined the Group in the same
year. He was appointed as Director and Managing Director in 1971 and
1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of directors in 1987.
Mr. Chan is at present the Chairman of the board of directors and has
held directorships in a number of subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan
was the Chairman of the board of directors of YGM Trading Limited from
2010 to 2015, and is at present the executive director of YGM Trading
Limited. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in garment manufacturing
and marketing in the Far East and the USA.

Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

Aged 78, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering
in 1970 from Purdue University. He has been the Managing Director of
the Company since 1987 and was re-designated from Managing Director
to Executive Director in January 2021. He is also an Executive Director
of YGM Trading Limited and an Independent Non-executive Director of
Kingboard Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan had participated in many textile
negotiations with the USA and Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He
used to be a Standing Committee Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th
of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference; Deputy
of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China, Ex-member
of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board
of Hong Kong; Ex-Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong
Affairs.

Chan Wing To, PhD

Aged 74, Mr. Chan joined YGM Singapore in 1978. He was appointed
as Executive Director of the Group in 1983. Mr. Chan was an Executive
Director of YGM Trading Ltd from November 1987 to April 2020.
Mr. Chan received a Doctor of Philosophy degree in economics from the
University of Rochester, USA in 1978. He has extensive experience in the
textile and garment business.

Chan Suk Man, MSc

Aged 77, Ms. Chan received Master of Science Degrees from the
University of Windsor, Canada in 1973 and Case Western Reserve
University USA in 1975. She joined the Group in 1976 and was appointed
as Executive Director in 1993. Madam Chan was re-designated as the
Managing Director of the Company in January 2021.
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Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Aged 77, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor's degree from University of
Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of the Group from
1974 to 1988 and has been an Executive Director since 1977. Mr. Chan
was the Managing Director of YGM Trading Limited from 1987 to 2006
and the Chief Executive Officer of YGM Trading Limited from 2006 to
2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board of directors of YGM
Trading Limited from 2010 and was re-designated as the Chairman of
board of directors of YGM Trading Limited in September 2015. Mr. Chan
has been the Chairman of the board of directors of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares were delisted from Australian Securities Exchange
with effect from 10 July 2023, since 2013.

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, BBS, JP

Madam Chan joined the Group in 1973 and was an executive Director
from January 1983 to April 2020. Madam Chan was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2021. She is also the Vice Chairman of
the board of directors of YGM Trading Limited. Madam Chan, aged
74, has extensive experience of management in the garment retail
and wholesale business. She is a Committee Member of the 3rd-
6th Election Committee of Hong Kong SAR, the Council Member of
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council (“HKTDC”), the Chairman
of Staff & Finance Committee of HKTDC, the Honorary President of
the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Chairman
Emeritus of Hong Kong Brand Development Council, the Vice President
of the Guangdong Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment,
a Council Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (“PolyU”),
the Chairman of Advisory Committee on School of Fashion and Textiles
of PolyU and the Supervisor of Yau Yat Chuen School. She received a
Bachelor’s degree from Nottingham Trent University, the United Kingdom
in 1973.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Choi Ting Ki

Aged 70, is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the Department of
Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same year and has
held various positions, including Partner of the audit department of KPMG
Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office, Senior
Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired
from KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2012. Mr. Choi
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Aged 69, has been a director of an accounting firm T.M Ho, So & Leung
CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House Group Limited
(stock code: 8241). He has extensive experience in the commercial
sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public practice
working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada.
He holds a bachelor’'s degree in commerce from the University of
British Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of
Certified Management Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company and YGM Trading
Limited (stock code: 375) since September 2017, and PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079) since September 2002. Mr. So
was an independent non-executive director of Milan Station Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1150) from May 2011 to February 2017, Teamway
International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239) from August
2017 to June 2019 and Pinestone Capital Limited (stock code: 804) from
May 2015 to November 2022.

Li Guangming

Aged 73, Mr. Li was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2018. He was appointed as deputy
chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief
of factory in February 1991. He has held various positions in Wuxi City
Guolian Development (Group) Company Limited and its subsidiaries.
Among other things, he was appointed as the general manager of
Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited (now known as Wuxi
No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October 2005, and
subsequently served as the chairman of its board until December 2014.
He had also held various management roles in Wuxi No. 1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd. (a joint venture held as to 49% by the Company) and
its subsidiaries up to June 2015. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional
University (now known as Jiangnan University) and was a member
of the Standing Committee of Wuxi Municipal People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China. He also has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375) since
January 2018.

DIRECTORS’ RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER
DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT,
SUBSTANTIAL OR CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Chan Wing To and Madam Chan Suk Man are
siblings. They are also the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley. Madam Chan
Suk Man is the wife of Mr. Lau Shing Choy.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship
with other Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

MANAGEMENT

Lau Shing Choy

Aged 77, Mr. Lau received a Bachelor’'s degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1969, and a Doctor of Philosophy Degree
from Case Western Reserve University, USA in 1978. Mr. Lau joined the
Group in 1978 to develop the China business. He is the Director of Hong
Kong Knitters Limited.

Leung Ming Wai, Alan

Aged 67, Mr. Leung is the General Manager of Sales Department and
obtained the diploma in Management Studies at Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Master Degree in Business Administration at University of
Macau. He joined the Company as Sales Manager in 1986.

Yip Chung On

Aged 62, Mr. Yip is the General Manager of Sales Department. Mr. Yip
joined the Company in 1982, and was promoted to Sales Manager in
1989. With wide range of both woven and knit experience in garment
sourcing and merchandizing, he was appointed as General Manager in
2005.

Hui Sau Ling

Aged 59, is the Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the
Group. She joined the Group in 2000 and has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting, treasury and company secretarial work. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 3 B BAT R S

Kkpmg

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 44 to 122, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BR8]

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GRCEZEZERN V-0 &4 3k 1

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(I)(ii).

A2 A B B IR M 11 (e) R & 7 B 1(1)(ii)

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B St % i e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
A 0 2 st d B 08 B R

In view of the losses sustained by certain business units of
the Group during the current year, management considered
that indicators of impairment of other property, plant and
equipment existed as at 31 March 2025.

R BEME TRBEAAELABRGER B2
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In assessing whether impairment existed at the reporting
date, management determined the recoverable amounts of
the smallest cash generating units (“CGUs”) to which these
assets were allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
the greater of its value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal.
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In order to determine the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs for which indicators of impairment were identified,
management assessed the fair values of the properties
with reference to valuation performed by external valuers or
estimates made by management.
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The assessment of the properties’ fair values involved
significant judgement, particularly in respect of
property-specific adjustment factors and the choice of
market comparable transactions.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of other
property, plant and equipment included the following:
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e assessing the Group’s impairment assessment
model, which included assessing the impairment
indicators identified by management, the identification
of CGUs and the allocation of assets to the CGUs
and assessing the impairment assessment models
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;
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e for the property valuation performed by external valuers
engaged by the Group, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, inspecting the valuation
report and assessing the independent external valuers’
qualifications, experience and expertise in the assets
being valued and considering their objectivity and
independence; discussing with the external valuers
and challenging the valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuations,
which included property specific adjustment factors
and the choice of market comparable transactions,
taking into consideration of comparability and other
market factors;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BAT R S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(continued)

Al LAl 2% - W 53 B Bt i 0 AL (4

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(I)(ii).

AT A B MBI M 11 (e) R & 7B 1(1)(ii) -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B i % il e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
A 0 2 5t d B 08 B R

We identified assessing impairment of other property,
plant and equipment as a key audit matter because of the
potential significance of any impairment charge to the results
of the Group for the year and because valuing the Group’s
properties can be inherently subjective and require significant
management judgement and estimation which increase the
risk of error or potential management bias.
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e for the property valuation assessed by management
based on benchmarking to recent market transactions,
comparing the fair value of the property, as assessed
by management, with our independently formed
market expectations with reference to the market
transaction prices and the dates of the reference
transactions; and
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e evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
impairment of property, plant and equipment to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BR8]

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

A B A 3 B i 0 T AE WA

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(I)(ii).

75 2 M 55 5 TR 2 Ak 148 & & A1 (1)(ii) »

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B St % i e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
A 0 2 st d B 08 B R

The carrying value of the Group’s interests in joint
ventures amounted to HK$409,860,000 as at 31
March 2025. The principal activity of the joint
ventures is the production of yarns with major
operations in Mainland China and Ethiopia. Given the
thin profit margin earned by the joint ventures and
the fluctuation of the price of the major raw material
cotton in recent years which have had a significant
impact on the gross profit, management considered
that indicators of impairment of interests in joint
ventures existed as at 31 March 2025.

BEEZ - HE=ZA=1+—H,> HHEENLGECEH
5 19 1 {H £ 409,860,000% 7T » &4 M F B EK
T T b K e R 5 FE AR L B AR E AP AR o IR AE SR D
25100 R T AV DA R T RO R A A AT b U B R R
WK BME B RFEEZA=+—H EHERELE
s RS AE B & -

In assessing whether there was any impairment of the
carrying value of the interests in joint ventures, management
determined the recoverable amounts of the smallest
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the underlying
property, plant and equipment of the joint ventures were
allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the greater of
its value in use and the fair value less cost of disposal.
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In order to determine the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs for which indicators of impairment were identified,
management prepared value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow forecasts and assessed the fair values
of the properties by reference to an estimate made by
management.
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Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
interests in joint ventures included the following:
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7

e  assessing the joint ventures’ impairment assessment
models, including evaluating the indicators of
impairment and the allocation of assets to CGUs by
joint ventures’ management with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;
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e challenging the key assumptions adopted by joint
ventures’ management in their preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts and comparing the
significant inputs, such as future revenue, future
margins and future cost growth rates by referencing to
industry and other available third party information and
management’s budgets and plans for the operations in
2026 and beyond;
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° involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
assessing the methodology applied by management in
its discounted cash flow forecasts with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards
and whether the discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts were comparable with
those of companies in the same industry and external
market data;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BAT R S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES(continued)

oA £ A 3 B A Y T A B (40

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(I)(ii).

75 2 5 B TR Ak 148 & &A1 (1) (i) »

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B i % il e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
A 0 2 5t d B 08 B R

The preparation of discounted cash flow forecasts involves
significant management judgement, in particular in relation to
the forecasts of future revenue, future margins, future cost
growth rates and the discount rates applied.
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In addition, assessing the fair value of these assets
involves significant management judgement, particularly in
determining asset-specific adjustment factors and the choice
of market comparable transactions.
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We identified assessing impairment of interests in joint
ventures as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because assessing
the key impairment assumptions involves a significant degree
of management judgement which may affect both the
carrying value of the Group’s interests in joint ventures as
well as any impairment charge for the year.
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e comparing the key assumptions included in
the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management in the prior year with the current year’s
performance to assess the accuracy of the prior year’s
forecast, making enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations identified and
whether these had been considered in the current year
discounted cash flow forecasts and considering if there
was any indication of management bias;
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o performing a sensitivity analysis of the future revenue,
future margins, future cost growth rates and the
discount rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by joint ventures’ management
and assessing the impact of changes in the key
assumptions to the conclusion reached in the
impairment assessment and whether there were any
indicators of management bias;
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e assessing the appropriateness of using the fair
value less costs of disposal model as the basis for
determining the recoverable amounts and evaluating
the mathematical accuracy of the model used to
estimate the fair value less costs of disposal;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B &R R S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES(continued)

WA £ A 3 B A Y T A B ()

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(I)(ii).

75 2 M 55 5 TR 2 Ak 148 & & A1 (1)(ii) »

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
B St % i e

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
A 0 2 st d B 08 B R

involving our internal valuation specialists to compare
the fair values of the joint ventures’ land use rights
and buildings, as assessed by management, with
our independently formed market expectations
with reference to the market transaction prices or
replacement cost for comparable assets adjusted for
certain asset-specific adjustment factors, including
the physical condition of the assets, the dates of the
reference transactions and the anticipated remaining
useful life; and
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assessing the relevant taxation implications in Mainland
China where the joint ventures operate upon disposal
of land use rights, buildings and machinery and
equipment of the joint ventures with reference to the
relevant prevailing tax regulations in Mainland China.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 3 B BAT R S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B &R R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 3 B BAT R S

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Pui Ngar (practicing certificate number:
P05280).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

REEER

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

2025 2024
ZEhAE e Sy 1112 S
Note $°000 $’000
Bt 7t T For
Revenue WA 2&10 186,431 234,302
Cost of sales B B AR (152,017) (189,849)
Gross profit EH 34,414 44,453
Other net income Al ol i 5 A 3 6,723 20,691
Selling and distribution expenses BB Reor e (18,007) (23,966)
Administrative expenses TrE# (31,333) (29,610)
Other operating expenses HoAth 48 2= # 4(c) (11,484) (10,915)
(Loss)/profit from operations ®a OB A (19,687) 653
Finance costs Rl & R AR 4(a) (760) (865)
Share of losses of joint ventures JEA A 75 4 2E 05 1R (39,028) (39,615)
Net valuation losses on investment & W) 2k 8 s 18 AR
properties 11(a) (6,843) (11,844)
Loss before taxation B BE Wil N 1 4 (66,318) (51,671)
Income tax credits Jir 13 B4 5(a) 6,440 3,499
Loss for the year 7 AF BE i (59,878) (48,172)
Attributable to: B 458 Bl Y
Equity shareholders of the Company LN ES RN (59,878) (48,172)
Loss per share 198 41
Basic and diluted A o W 9 ($0.29) ($0.23)

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year are set out in note 25(b)(). The notes on pages
50 to 122 form part of these financial statements.

JE AsH A N R RE 4 A AR A B SR A R
B 5E25(b) (i) - 50 H & A5 122 E 19 Ml &% 8§ 4 it
W EZ — T o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReEEkEMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFEE GET)

2025 2024
SR TTAE TR T4
Note $°000 $’000
Mtz T For
Lossfortheyear AdmeEw (59.878) (48,172)
Other comprehensive income for the 7 4F Ji o fib 4 i e 2% (i B BE 0 )%
year (after tax and reclassification vig v k%))
adjustments) 8
Items that will not be reclassified AN B B F 7 K R M -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Equity investments at fair value through 75 %8 H At 4 T i 5 72 23 118 (A R
other comprehensive income: B IREHE RS 5 B - BB AN A
net movement in the investment S W) TR O AT [A])
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) (1,982) (1,468)
Iltems that are or may be reclassified — E I H - H % ] E R F 18 7
subsequently to profit or loss: HyHEH -
Exchange differences on translation of: [ i 25 %8 :
— financial statements of subsidiaries ~ — #2537 1k 35 A1 E 4> 7 B R IR &
outside Hong Kong (971) (6,068)
— share of joint ventures’ net assets - EEN G S EEETE (1,730) (25,091)
(2,701) (31,159)
Release of exchange reserve upon G B — B > W IRE R ) B T S0
deregistration of a subsidiary 1§ - (63)
Release of exchange reserve upon PR — B Jagg > 0 i 2D B A A T 4 ]
reduction of paid-up capital of a R b, o 5
subsidiary 5,790 -
Other comprehensive income A I L Ath 4 T 0 A
_fortheyear 1,107 (32,690)
Total comprehensive income A A JBE 4 i G 2% A8
for the year (58,771) (80,862)
Attributable to: R 5 B Y -
Equity shareholders of the Company AT RRERR A A (58,771) (80,862)
Total comprehensive income A AE B 2 i MK 2 AR
for the year (58,771) (80,862)

The notes on pages 50 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
w5 BBk &

At 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
RZZ-AF=A=+—8 LUETH)

2025 2024
e g Y o ZER YA
Note $°000 $°000
Mt it SN TT
Non-current assets R o % A
Investment properties wEYE 11 197,136 225,714
Other property, plant and equipment  H A ¥ 2 - iz K s fi 11 36,529 38,948
Interest in leasehold land held for FrfE B 2 & 1 i 25
own use 11 877 935
234,542 265,597
Intangible assets WV g = 12 2,092 2,187
Interests in joint ventures EEMEMS 14 409,860 450,660
Other financial assets HoAth 4 il & 15 12,536 18,153
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 659,030 736,597
Current assets b s A
Inventories & 16 8,734 8,030
Trade and other receivables JRRE AT B B A R i 2k 17 24,375 45,328
Bank deposits SRAT A 3K 18(a) 209,226 115,517
Cash and cash equivalents e LB EEEY 18(a) 122,910 188,987
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 365,245 357,862
Current liabilities ) A
Trade and other payables JREAST B 3k B HL At JE A5 3k 19 30,889 35,703
Contract liabilities B H A 20 7,750 1,983
Lease liabilities iEN==E 21 64 99
Current tax payable JEEAST A 38 5 TE 22(a) 11,064 11,103
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 49,767 48,888
Net currentassets ~~~ @hwE®s#s 0000000000000 315478 308,974
Total assets less current liabilities  YEM#iwwyase 974,508 1,045,571
Non-current liabilities JE 9 B A 4%
Provision for employee benefits i B 4% 1 2 ) #8 Al 24 8,815 10,388
Lease liabilities HE & E 21 = 65
Deferred tax liabilities I AL B IH A 6] 22(b)(ii) 5,411 11,930
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 14,226 22,383
NET ASSETS P 960,282 1,023,188

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—JPAN v )
= A 8IS 1R OR &
At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
M-—B—RF=A=+—8 (LET:)

2025 2024
TR AR e <y 11 S
Note $’000 $°000
Mt #t P Fr

CAPITAL AND RESERVES A B ik i
Share capital Jige A 25(c) 208,418 208,418
Reserves fit A5 751,864 814,770
TOTAL EQUITY B 25 B4 7 960,282 1,023,188

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June
2025.

Chan Wing Fui, Peter Chan Suk Man
Chairman Managing Director

The notes on pages 50 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDZEHR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE"T-RF=A=+—HILFE LETI)

Investment Land and

Goodwill  revaluation buildings
Share Exchange arising on reserve  revaluation Other Retained
capital reserve  consolidation  (non-recycling) reserve reserve profits Total

BakH  REEHEE  LERET
Bk BRRE  FEEZEE  (RWME)  EREE O LRRE REEA it

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
7 i 7 7 i 7 i i
Note  (note 25(c)  (note 25(dj) (note 25(a)ii) ~ (note 25(a)fiil)  (note 25(a)(iv))
W () (W) (z2e) — (z2se) (2500
Blamcoat 1 Aprl 2028 RBZRWA-NLAR e e wm o 8 TS WAk 1188
Changes in equity for the year: 4 &% :
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - (48.172) (48,172)
Other comprehensive income A mis 8 - (31222 - (1,468) - - - (32,690)
Total comprehensive income Rl AE - (31,222) - (1,468) - - (48,172) (80,862
Dividends approved and paidin -~ #ER T ABI |~ %
respect of the previous year i) 25(0)fi - - - - - - 4,139) 4,139)
S L2 N S U S 2 B
Balance at 31 March 2024and ~ R-ZF-WEZH=F-HE
tApild  CECWEWA-HZER e aM AL 29 83 1% 7% 10218
Changes in equity for the year: 4 &% :
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - (59,878) (59,879)
Other comprehensive income A mis 8 - 3,089 - (1,982) - - - 1,107
Total comprehensive income Bt | - 3,089 - (1,989) - - (59,878) (58,771)
Transfer to retaned profits upon R B ERERE
disposal of investment properties R il - 40 - - (3,276) - 2,866 -
Transfer to retaingd profits upon K2R EERHERE
disposal of an other financial asset  fi B4 Fl - - - (3,158) - - 3158 -
Dividends approved and paid i~ MR T ATBR L~
respect of the previous year 533} 25(0)i - - - - - - (4,139) 4,139)
T o T L. I L I .. .
Balance at 31 March 2025 REBZHEENZE-H
a3 208,418 52,940 (42,174) 7,837 30,003 7,236 695,972 960,282
The notes on pages 50 to 122 form part of these financial statements. S50 & 1225 1Y M 5 B A BB Rk R 2 —
iy o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 £ 3



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
mERTRER

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BEFZE_NF=H=1+—HILEE (LUETLH)

2025 2024
SR TTAE —E A
Note $°000 $’000
Mz T For
Operating activities B W)
Cash generated from/(used in) BEEB G A B4
operations 18(b) 2,391 (4,330)
Tax paid, net AT T A5 B IR AR - (2,471)
Net cash generated from/(used in) HWEBWES, () B4 E8
__operating activites 2,891 (6,801)
Investing activities B W)
Payment for the purchase of other W H A 2E - RS
property, plant and equipment A A AT K (615) (151)
Proceeds from disposals of other ALY 2 - B &
property, plant and equipment WA T A5 30H 4 169
Proceeds from disposal of investment i 5 5 &y 2 JiF 15 2K T8
properties 17,651 -
Proceeds from disposal of an other AR — il 4 i T S KR
financial asset 484 -
Interest received 2 AFLE 12,424 11,203
Dividends received from equity L Ui e o 5 2 I R
securities 547 533
Net cash received from disposal of a  H & — [t i /A & 2 W 435 88
subsidiary - 194
(Increase)/decrease in bank deposits ~ $RAT7EE (&) 8 (93,709) 12,582
Net cash (used in)/generated from  B:& G (BF M),/ Fi 79 BL 4 i
__investing activites (63,214) 24,530
Financing activities Tl )y
Capital element of lease rentals paid EATHEM S GG 18(c) (99) (101)
Interest element of lease rentals paid & fH L&l 4 2 F & 4 18(c) (5) (5)
Interest paid 2 AT FLE (755) (860)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders B\ £ A2 w] BEHERF A A B
of the Company (4,135) (4,135)
Net cash used in financing activities W¥#WEHPIMBEHH (4,994 (6,101)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash B & KB &%EY (RA), Wi
and cash equivalents E (65,817) 12,628
Cash and cash equivalents at the RAER 2 B4 K Bl A S
beginning of the year 188,987 178,074
Effect of foreign exchange rate A W S 3R 5 B 2 5
changes (260) (1,715)
Cash and cash equivalents RAE K Z B KB &5 HY
at the end of the year 18(a) 122,910 188,987
The notes on pages 50 to 122 form part of these financial statements. S50 & 122 1Y M 5k B A BB Rk & 2 —

iy
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

(b)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(h));

— investments in equity securities (see note 1(f)); and
—  derivative financial instruments (see note 1(g)).

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see
note 1(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(c)

(@)

BRFEZ A=+ ALFE (UETH)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 29.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants
(“2022 amendments”)

e  Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale
and leaseback

e Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS
7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains
or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b)

(c)

(d)

EH= Tt Bk (A7)

Y 8 o 1 B R I R ()

% it AR R R R A o ot
A7 40 25058 0 SR B A - U B
A 58 5 0 B R
f 1 05 2 80 00 L 9 11 SO
B B2 0 9 0 2

B P R P A o o Y T
e ) IR T AR T B R R
BER RV o DA RS RS E R R 2 EEOR
U2 Wl am N2 > W B RE29 -

1t R 52 )

A B CR A g R ] 2 BB R R
Bl P A B w2 B AR AT B A R
o e QI g at e AR RT

o HEFHEABAR BT - MHEHRE
B B A2 0 B o ([
T ORAEERT]) A
W AEH] - B WK R i R
1 FE i B A (T % — AR D)

o HEMBSHCHENI 16t 2 BET >
B B A9 #E A

o HEEEABTIR AR - HeiE
7 Lo A s B O R R EE T B 2 AB T
TR fE R — 1 L

% 5 S A 7 4 3 AR 4R B 7E A 2 B A )
fi] 38 1 0 ] 0 3 A6 R U B IR 0 4 O S
PR R B o AR A I O R R R

B2 e

fi] 0 oA 22 A 2 AT e SR E B R R o

W )i 22 w1

WhF T 2> m) o A B I BT R ) 2 TR o AR AR
V] A A 2 BT 2 SEBS A TR IS E A
5 ) 2 0] i S A R ) A T 2 o R LAY B
O] ¥ B A AR B 2 o I A
B EY BB R A B 4G BB AR A
MBI R E RS R -

S H N B 2 A R A BR KB R B > LA
B AT AR X 4 1 A 0 B 2% W] TR AR AT 28 B B R
5 B AR K BA ST (LLAR 22 5 1 ik 48 X s
HHERSN) 392 B S - 4R B K A 2 7 ]
A7 22 o T $k A 09 o 5 B fR 4R 8 8 DL BER
53 B i 4 19 [/ bk 7 K7 DR > Mk AT 4R
SR AT WAE R R B

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RiT#& 45 B A 6

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 &%

51



52
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(d) Subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in

a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is

measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a

subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(l)).

(e) Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group or the
Company has joint control, whereby the Group or the Company has
the rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to

its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

An interest in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method and is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction
costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial statements include
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) of the investee, until the date on which joint control

ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together
with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of

the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with the equity-accounted
investee are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no

evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in joint

ventures are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1())).

E At Bk (4)

(d) W& A (&)

(e)

ARG — M8 F R AR B > B
A7 M K eI HE > ZHLARE SR 22 o) A DR o

WA O 2 — R A O AL P O HE R A
1k 7% B g 2~ W 2 R R B DA R B 4 Y
A A H At AL ARHT 23 o BT 0 A A ] i 4
Bl 1R 1 A R R R o R O 2k T ME R
TE 7% 1l B JB8 2% 7] O B 9 AT ol HE 2 3 4% 8 F
A& -

TEA S A W5 IR LR > B A R B
S DAB A 5 B U801E s 4R (2 B B R ()51
HE

TBEMAR

GEMES HLH > B ALK
O F A 3G [ R RE > A AR B B A R A
REBE A L2 PR 2 B W > T FF A HE A
KERFAL -

T G B A 36 M A 1 A R T AR S MBS
e o 3l LA (BLIE 2 5y AR ) HEAT ) 4
MRS o WA IR T RD AR - A5 B MR FEA
A AR T B A W 5 2 1R A B At 4 T ik
di ([ HAd 2wl ss 1) > B2 R] 2 i 4% 1k
ZH Ik -

A A REAG G 4 3 2 1R A LT AG
fEda iy > AL Z RS EZE > I H
H b TR RRE 2D R 4R 5 M AR 4R B JH R AT
A E AT > AU B A R B
Sh o BRULTI & > A% 58 1 2 HE 2 2 DL % A
fE R 2 MR (E > R EUE B
AEBMEGEREREFH -BIOREY
HE 2 5 e o

A 4R BLUH 5 A 36 2 B 52 5 B EE PR R
BBLUCEE > DA R BB BT AL 2
an ARG o R A B 4R A IR T i SR
5 B0 A AR > EHE B R A IR R A R R
BN WU(E B A ER A

BANABHBERREZT AR EESENHK
s JE i A b2 (B R 1R (2B EE())
Bl HRE o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA A

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 &%



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(69]

(h)

FAF=A=+—RLLFE KET)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
26(f). These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL, unless the
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition
the Group makes an election to designate the investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in OCI.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is made
for a particular investment, at the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to retained earnings and not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income (see note 1(v)(iv)).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its
foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. Embedded
derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for
separately if the host contract is not a financial asset and certain
criteria are met.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with changes therein
recognised in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for
cash flow hedge accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign
operation.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(k) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at fair values, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1(v)(iii).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of other property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 1())):

— Interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(k));

—  Right-of-use assets arising from leases underlying properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest; and

- ltems of plant and equipment.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property carried at fair value, the property is revalued at the date
of transfer. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss and any resulting increase in
carrying amount is recognised in other comprehensive income and
increase in the land and buildings revaluation reserve.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items
of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual
values, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods
are as follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease;

—  The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of the
lease and the buildings’ estimated useful lives, being no more
than 50 years after the date of completion;

—  Plant and machinery between 4 to 10 years; and

—  Other fixed assets between 3 to 5 years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite
useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses (see note 1()).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets
less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in
profit or loss.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that have
a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease
payments are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is recognised using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability, and are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 1(i) and 1())(ii)), except for right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 1(h).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract, if such modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based
on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property in “interest in leasehold land
held for own use” and “other property, plant and equipment” and
presents lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the
lease is classified as an operating lease.

The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 1(v)(iii).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECL”s) on the following items:

—  Financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables); and

- Lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative financial assets,
are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Generally,
credit losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls between the contractual and expected amounts.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

—  Lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of the items to which the
ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 12-months
ECLs:

- Financial instruments that are determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date; and

—  Other financial instruments for which credit risk (i.e. the risk
of default occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in the profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instruments
through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease receivable
is written off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the asset becomes 365
days past due or when the Group otherwise determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off
are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
the following assets to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment:

—  Other property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets (other than investment properties carried at revalued
amounts);

- Intangible assets; and

—  Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets
or cash-generating units (“CGUs”).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(i)

(m)

FAF=A=+—RLLFE KET)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-generating
units if otherwise.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the resulting
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

(O]

EH= Tt Bk (A7)

1 £ ) 45 B B A DRV (A

(ii) FE A 2 7 o A (A)

(m)

T ) AT A [ DA KL G A A o
(6 36l B B AR T Y e R Y o
A (B2 DA AT St 3 25 il i R 2 B 48 9L B9
HE - T A% S R AR i i 35 e A g
B E A S A EE RS E A
o7 B 8 A7 JE By o n 2R E T EE AR B B O
A KL b A S At T E A ) B
WA o R LLRE M 7 AR B A DB
FE U (R B 4 7 2R B ) 20 7 s AT i [
B EH o fiM 20 TC RE A AE A B — Bl BE B
1o AFVEE (Bl > IR 590 iR
T (L B 2 T T {18 ) B < A LAY - BOE R
FE A PR 2 FiE T /s B B g A B A
il -

ik e B < A B 2 B T (D A A L T
Wi e < > R R 2% B (E A 4R - s 1R
T 48 g Tl R o 4 L ] 20 E DA B A
B Ao7 v At A MR T

$85% 101 90 {81 M 81 LA R T (LA 7 20 e 1 e R
930 (8L M 18 B T 7R E 9 M T (E (K€ 1 BR A 2
B fHE ) 2 R -

i1

Fr 8 T3 DLBAS B T 5 BLFH(E W & P A IR
BUH AR -

JECAS LA R - A IS R H A B
A PR RAS ~ I TRAR DL R A A B R B
AR A A iy 2 A o

]S TR (E L DL H R SERS AR P A R
I 25 58 B EE B B B T R B A R IR AR
Jir 5 2 -

Jir A B A 6 Y B T (L 7E A BRSO e R Y
SO M 1 e B 2 S o A A R A W A
BT E R A7 BT A s 1R 3 7E ) B B
Jes 18194 S0 [] R0 e R 2 ST b o A B A AT Bk
(B 995 9 B9 B R > B 7E o BLAE R A 0 1 A ek
DR I IR SCH I AF B B

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED #iL#4&4 B2
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 £ %R

59



60

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

(0)

(p)

(@

(r)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration and only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method and including allowance for credit losses
(see note 1()(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest
and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 1(v)). A contract liability is also recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such latter
cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised (see note 1(n)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash equivalents exclude bank deposits with a maturity
of more than three months when placed. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL (see note 1())(i)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

FAF=A=+—RLLFE KET)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service
is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to
be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
are expensed as the related service is provided.

Net obligations in respect of long service payment (“LSP”)

The Group’s net obligation in respect of LSP under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is calculated by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior
periods and discounting that amount. The estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting the negative service
cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
contributions that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of LSP are the amounts
of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods, calculated in accordance
with the relevant laws.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payments
granted to employees is measured using the binomial lattice
model. The amount is generally recognised as an expense, with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the
awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the number of awards for which the related service conditions are
expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised
is based on the number of awards that meet the related service
conditions at the vesting date.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and when the
Group recognises costs for a restructuring.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z_RAF=A=+—B8IFE (AUE T

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.
....... (CONMLINUEd) . ..eeeeeeeeeeeeeees e
(t) Income tax (t)

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on
the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

—  Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

—  Temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries
and joint venture to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based
on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

=
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—E-RFE=A=1+—BILEE U ETH)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with note 1(h), the amount of deferred tax recognised
is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of
those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date, unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through
sale. In all other cases, the measurement of deferred tax reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the
Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it
obtains control of the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use
of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
....... (continued)
(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing
is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties
such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Revenue from other sources and other income

(i)

(i)

()

(v)

Processing service income, management fee income and
commission income

Processing service income, management fee income and
commission income are recognised when the relevant services
are rendered.

Property rental income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part
of the total rental income, over the term of the lease. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they
are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on
which the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. The “effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired). However, for
financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent
to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(w)

FAF=A=+—RLLFE KET)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from other sources and other income (continued)
(vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
functional currencies of group companies at the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially
such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the exchange reserve related to that foreign
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

(v)

(w)

EH= Tt Bk (A7)

WA Be Fo 4l e A (A7)
H A P2 WA T H Al 25 (%)
i) BT B

AT DL P AE AR 4R 8 0 B B
i 0 0 AT W% A By B BA A A0 1 B
58 € ) U AE 1 5 1K DL 2% 6 B 4 B o
B8 o JHS T A A 4 B AR ST A9 A
Bl o € 78 52 A A R TR A AR A
18 i A 7 RE A UL ER o

Ah s 4 31

A L5 [ Wi B 8 W A% B W R BT LA 2
THE ¥ A% R R R AR IR I
R (TR RN - &6 MH WKL
BWIIR B AR LA Z AR L2
5B o

LASNWEHEAT 19 58 5y 4538 oy H 22 1 e S f 3
BABEEAFS AN NREEN -

DAAN M G (B 00 B W e B R R RS
H g5 sl i R A S T ae B - DL
BB R R A SR IR B W B DI
EHAFHEESEHNERKRE B IER
Mo DR sBAS T B9 A0 R O B W B
BRI S B E R - SN i
JA R 45 A RS o

1 P T 2 FERUR AL IR 52 5 Y B 2
TR BB - MBIRWERAE DR &E B
(1) BEE 2% 77 B0 o BEE 50 2 52 A 73 il ke 8 % L At
TS A 08 S B R R A 1 2 SO Gk A o

i 2 AR = 2> B i A 36 S 2k 2
R~ TR B ) S (] 4 R o B A 36
B M B 2 BEE S fok 22 R < B R 0 S A
B o AF 5l SRz — 385 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

y)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal
groups, are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the
Group and the Company are concerned are deferred tax assets,
assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale, would
continue to be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in note 1.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

(x)

(y)

E At Bk (4)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(z) Related parties

(1)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

0)
(i)
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

EH= Tt Bk (A7)

(1)

(z) BEAL

il ANt SO B R BB R E B
PR AR 2 BN L i A
AL

(i)
(i)
(iff)

122 1 B[R] P AR
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Ty A G B EOAS 4R R R R A
HMABMBZ -

— A B A0 A A AT AT R S AR BB
WA B AL

(i)

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)
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2 M 2 F R A B )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods supplied to
customers, processing service income and rental income.
Disaggregation of revenue by category is analysed as follows:

E At Bk (4)

(aa) 2> ¥ it

AR T V0 B 0 B 5 3R T B 4k 9 4% 0 R OH
% A 5 U 1) A 42 ) e 1R AT B BN
B AR DL 2 B R AR AR A BUE T I
o [ 73 38 DL K A 05 45 19 3% B I B S R
ot o

B B 2 R R R O R K Bl
Bk BRI TIRB A R -

WA BBEAET BB EEME - T
ke 5 Ui g5 Mo FH Al 25 o 4% BRI B4 2 A
i I

2025 2024
R P4
$’000 $°000
T For
Under the scope of HKFRS 15, HLHE 7 v W 5 i 48 i M 3 1S 9% -
Revenue from contracts with customers: KHFEFGHZHRANERERA :
— Manufacture and sale of garments — RIRE TR R K 182,433 227,960
- Manufacture and sale of textiles — B KB S AR 7 119
— Processing service income — i AR S i A 594 687
... 183034 228,766
Under the scope of HKFRS 16, Leases: HLHE 7 v 5 i i H) 481658
AEWGEE N -
Gross rentals from investment properties  #&EWXMemm 000000 3397 5,536
186,431 234,302

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographic markets is disclosed in note 10(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified. For the year ended
31 March 2025, revenues of approximately $45,414,000 (2024:
$65,021,000) is derived from two (2024: two) external customer with
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue.
These revenues are attributable to the sales of garments. Details of
the concentrations of credit risk arising from the customers are set
out in note 26(a).

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15 and does not disclose information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations arising from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date that had an original expected duration of one year or
less.

2 i 15 17 35 #) 0r 2 B A KA o B R
R HEEE10(c) °

REMZEFEBREZ LN - HEZ
FT_AF=ZHA=ZT—HIFE 4
45,414,0007¢ (% . PU4E : 65,021,000
J6) MILA TSR B WA (ZF WA - W
&) SNEREF o %S R P 1 B A A Y R
AR AL A Z10% o IS8 i A TR S AR 81
o MaZEE P Mo 2 A5 5 a4
1% DL A 1 B 7E [ 5:26(a) ©

AL [ B T A VS B A v R A5 595 58
121(a) B 2 w47 B H O % > oI R B R A 4
HEBITHBEAFENER SHNELEN
P58 A KR AL A HEESNIRAZ
R ARG ER G — F

5 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z_AF=A=+—RHLEFE (&)

3. OTHER NET INCOME

3. b Wt 1

2025 2024
$°000 $000
T Fr
Interest income psYiE 12,424 11,203
Scrap income JBE LU 25 1,130 839
Net gain on forward foreign exchange i ] A0 TE A 4 Wi 4 1 48
contracts 57 223
Net exchange (loss)/gain FE 5, (5 48) /i 25 1% 4 (5,552) 176
Management fee income gk SN 780 780
Dividend income from equity securities JBEAE RS 25 2 B B 547 533
Net (loss)/gain on disposals of other B HALY - BB X
property, plant and equipment e B8l #5 75 (24) 127
Net claim income 118 Wi 25 VA 1,036 887
Loss on disposal of an other financial asset B — At 4 T N 1R (3,174) -
Loss on disposal of intangible assets i A T A R G 1R - (323)
Loss on disposal of investment properties B ER G R (4,814) -
Sundry income HoAth g 45 4,313 6,246
6,723 20,691
YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED L 3K 45 Bt A #)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

4. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 4. BRBEmEE

BRBLAT S IR E Bk (KA

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

70

2025 2024
ZR AR R AR
$°000 $'000
T F T
(@) Finance costs (a) WhERA
Interest on bank advances FRAT BHOR] S
(including bank charges) (B 4G 4R 1T 2 1) 755 860
Interest on lease liabilities (note 18(c)) &2 AE (Hi18(c) 5 5
760 865
(b) Staff costs* (b) BT )fA*
Salaries, wages and other benefits e 1L R HAAE A 46,437 50,217
Contributions to defined contribution e LN G
retirement schemes” 1,150 4,364
Provision/(reversal of provision) for 1 B 4 I 22 48
employee benefits, net (note 24) (H At 13 100) YRR (M AE24) 268 (1,957)
47,855 52,624
(c) Other operating expenses (c) Hfbmafm
Impairment losses on trade receivables IR A T 3 Ik (L T 48
(note 26(a)) (M 7t26(a)) 671 1,585
Recovery of bad debt HEUR i [m] (224) (750)
Auditors’ remuneration A2 S T <5
— audit services — R 1,341 1,401
— other services — HoAh RS 350 344
Security fee %2 1,497 1,387
Insurance 1R B 1,111 1,236
Consultancy fee e 1) 2 852 842
Repair and maintenance fee HEE KRR 713 1,342
Other taxes and surcharges At B T B B 22 773 1,364
Legal and professional fee RN EEREH 1,496 201
Motor vehicle expenses KRB 522 523
Membership fee e H 439 474
Business and other registration fees P S8 T B A A 2 388 343
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) W E FEEER (M 12) 95 95
Donation RN 10 12
Sundry expenses M TH 1,450 496
11,484 10,915
(d) Other items (d) b H
Cost of inventories* 1B R A 152,017 189,849
Depreciation charges* (note 11) Pregs (Mtat11)
— owned property, plant and equipment - BEWE -~ WE K 596 623
- right-of-use assets — A EE 2,403 2,206
Rentals receivable from investment itdct/ES ik
properties less direct outgoings of I B 2 X H11,228,00000
$1,228,000 (2024: $1,376,000) (—Z " PY4E: 1,376,00070) (2,168) (4,160)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

ToRE= A= —AILEE (WETH)

# Cost of inventories includes $7,822,000 (2024: $8,590,000) relating to staff
costs and depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 4(b) for each of these
types of expenses.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to
reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2024: $Nil).

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

B BE i s 10 (A7)

G B ARG B TAA T8 A B s E I
7,822,0007C (& —JU4F : 8,590,0007C) °
A B A BN FEATE £ S0 BT R 2 &I
B R AR R sE4 (o) e

MRoF_RFE=ZHA=+—H > AE@MIED

T2 Ak T P LA 10 A 2R A T R A 4 S )
PR (S AR Eop) o

Bk A 45 2 3 P W B 1 Bt

Bk 4 8 26 5 T W B A BE 2y

2025 2024
R AR e =gy L1 K22
$°000 $°000
T T
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax AAEBLIE — A W 4B
Provision for the year 7 AT Fo I 13 A 187 -
Over-provision in respect of prior years DA 4F B R AR A A - (25)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 187 (@9
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong AAEBLHE — W B A
Credits for the year A%BEAMLE (4D (456)
Deferred tax Y& %1€ B
Origination and reversal of temporary BT IRE 25 B E A R HE )
__differences ... 6480 (3,018
Income tax credits JIT 15 ol 41K T (6,440) (3,499)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2025 was calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 March 2025, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.
For this subsidiary, the first $2 million of assessable profits were
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits were taxed at
16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2024 as the Company and its Hong Kong
subsidiaries sustained losses for taxation purpose during the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

CEAFEFBFGRBEME R RERE
CECTOEZA =+ — HILEEZ A S
JE BE B i R LA16.5% A Bl Rt B - M &
A5 Bl W A A A 0 AR 4R — B A T
S A /NN = 4 ¥ R =]
2,000,000 C#%8.25% 2~ Bl R 5t B K F 1
SRR A 516.5% 2 Bl R EHE o

F 7 AR 2 ) B 7 ok R A 2\ R A Bk A
BB - Sl e i e —F I E = A
= Bk AR B A s A AT B A

W 35 S0 B > W) 2 B TE JU) LAAR B B K
R BT RGH -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

S. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

5. & A5 4 AR R P W B 4 BE (AT

(b) B IECHE S A £l M 1H 45 8 B R A

(b) Reconciliation between tax credits and accounting loss at applicable

72

tax rates: W :
2025 2024
ZER AR R YA
$°000 $000
T FIL
Loss before taxation o B 1 s 15 (66,318) (51,671)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, e R B 1 2 2 P s 1E 2
calculated at the rates applicable to losses Bl 23R B BRBLAT G E 1Y
in the countries concerned 2 FBLIA (14,652) (11,992)
Tax effect of share of losses of joint ventures — EAG & 4 1> 2 15 8 1% B4 I8 5 4% 9,757 9,904
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ANFT 0k 57 0 B T 2 2 2,204 2,860
Tax effect of non-taxable income TR 1 B IE g 28 (8,584) (3,072)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised A TR A iR T AR B TS s 1R 1Y
tax losses utilised during the year BlIA R 2 (221) (668)
Tax effect of other temporary differences A T R At T R 22 B
not recognised BT 52 2 2,427 -
Tax effect of unused tax losses not KRR AT B EIE N
recognised i T 5 42 1,672 292
Tax effect of share of undistributed profits A A5 A 2 R 43 i A I Y
of joint ventures i Y 5 2 (3,641) (518)
Over-provision in respect of prior years DU 4 B 8 R A - (25)
Others HoAty (402) (280)
Actual tax credits B R B H L (6,440) (3,499)

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 6 W¥FME .
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the R 8 A5 W5 2 7)1 191 35 383 (1) ke S /A /] (i
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 5 3 ) 45 R K1) 25280 2 B T 4
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are BWZERMEWT
as follows:

Salaries, allowances and Retirement scheme
Directors’ fees benefits in kind Discretionary bonuses contributions Total
AL Fa R AR LT LS wit

2025 204 22 2024 2025 204 2025 204 202 204
SRCRE CZONE CRCRE CFONE ZR0RE CFONF CRCHE TN ZRSRE CFONE
§000  $oo  $oo0 oo §o00  goo0  $ooo o0 SO0 000
7z Fi 23 Fi x 7 7z 123 23 124

Executive directors ks

M. Chan Wing Fu, Peter & 40 4 1,338 1338 - - - - 1,378 1378
Mr. Chan Wing Kee Bkt 40 4 676 676 - - - - 716 716
M. Chan Wing To Bk iR 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40
Ms. Chan Suk Man Bl £ 40 40 815 815 - - - - 855 855
M. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel A& fe 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40
Ms. Chan Suk Ling, Shiley ~~ JAB#% 4 - 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40

Independent non-executive B AT %

directors
Mr. Chol Ting Ki EEAEL 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung ki bk 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
Mr. Li Guangming EMEE 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130

630 630 2,829 2,829 = - = - 3,459 3,459

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED #iL#4&4 B2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

7. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 7.
EMOLUMENTS

SN K N

TERA M &R 2 Nt > W (ZF =
Aon ) B > A B G R R RS
Pigk o HE F HE=ZA=1+—HILE
BEZAL A (SR AR A ) 2

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2024:
one) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 6. The
emoluments of the three individuals (2024: four individuals) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:

&
2025 2024
SR —E YA
$°000 $000
T For
Salaries and other emoluments 34 M H At P 4 3,823 5,817
Discretionary bonuses W15 18 41 480 880
Retirement scheme contributions FERINS I RFIT e 119 203
4,422 6,900

The emoluments of the three individuals (2024: four individuals) with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

= S e B N (U PO AE U A

£ BB A F T S I ]

2025 2024

R TR TR T4

$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,0017C £1,500,0007C 2 1
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,0017C £2,000,0007C 1 2
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,0017C %2,500,0007C - 1
3 4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVEINCOME 8 JfbZwidMcse .
(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive (a) oAl 2 i W 2 9 5 AL 5 B B 109 BE 5 3 B
income
2025 2024
Y “ECNE
Before-tax Net-of-tax ~ Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount Tax effect amount
BEHAR  BEBE RRESE  BENeE  HEPE  REKeE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fi Fi Fi T Tz Fr
Exchange differences e 5021

on translation of:
- financial statements of subsidiaries - BE RSN A A

outside Hong Kong B RE (971) - (971) (6,068) - (6,068)
- share of joint ventures’ net assets - AL A SRS R (1,730) - (1,730) (25,091) - (25,091)
(2,701) - (2,701) (31,159) - (31,159)
Release of exchange reserve upon FE 8 — IR A 7 R
deregistration of a subsidiary ERliR - = = (63) - (63)
Release of exchange reserve upon MBI E i A
reduction of paid-up capital of T 48 I 5 ff
a subsidiary 5,790 - 5,790 - - -
Equity investments at FVOCI: net ERAAEREEATEA
movement in the investment NI R 42
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) BEEHREZDTFH
(AT g) (1,982 - (1,982 (1,468) - (1,468)
Other comprehensive income s 1,107 - 1,107 (32,690) - (32,690)
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, including (b) oAb 2 i e 22 0 LR IE B (4 65 3597 2
reclassification adjustments %)
2025 2024
SR ThAE TR T4
$’000 $’000
T Fr
Equity investments measured at FVOCI: D 3 3 Ll 4 i WG 2 3 A P U
A MRS B 22 B HE s I B
Changes in fair value recognised AF TR BEE R N B (R 52 )
during the year (1,982) (1,468)

Net movement in the investment revaluation 4 [y it HoAth 4 1 Wiz 45 7 52 1
reserve (non-recycling) during the year P AL G (A m] g [a])
recognised in other comprehensive income 55 ) V5 AR (1,982) (1,468)

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED #iL#4&4 B2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

(b)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
$59,878,000 (2024: $48,172,000) and the weighted average
number of 206,748,000 (2024: 206,748,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as
there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments:

—  Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles: this segment
covers the manufacture and sale of garment and textile
products, and provision of garment processing services.

— Interests in joint ventures: the Group’s joint ventures engage in
the manufacture and sale of textile yarn products.

—  Property leasing: this segment leases commercial and industrial
premises to generate rental income.

(b)

I & AR s

B J A Nl 18T R 4R O 4 B A A )
T B HE BRI 4 B 48.59,878,0000T (—
F T PY4E 1 48,172,00070) K AFE R E AT
58 e 2 I REST- ¥ #206,748,000/% (&
T PU4E 1 206,748,000/%) FHFE o

T B B W s 41

W TR CF A =
LAk A BE - A% )l 6 PLAT A 8 )
2 ;G IR A 4 A
i AL -

- o

A 5 1 DAy B AR B B HZE S o AR AR I L 1)
A B T B R AT B BN B A TR 2 OB R (8
o3 WE B R R R AL R B — 2oy Jr L2 5L
T AT B R R o A 4R S S AT o
K& oy AR A RE LR T 50 H T 2 o A

- B R R S BRI
15 B A B B 4 AR B B AR > R AR
AR AT TR o

- AEME#ELD AREaEARELSE

- W EME Moy ER I AH P N T
F AW 8 Wi 2 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(a)

FAF=A=+—RLLFE KET)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles and property leasing
segments

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of intangible
assets, other financial assets, deferred tax assets, current tax
recoverable and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
all liabilities managed directly by the segments with the exception
of current tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate
liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as including
investment income and finance cost and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets, depreciation and amortisation. To arrive at
adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for
items not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
net valuation gains/losses on investment properties, auditors’
remuneration and other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest income
and finance costs from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and additions
to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

Interests in joint ventures

The Group’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, and
presented as a separate reportable segment. The Group’s senior
executive management reviews the post-tax result of the interests
in joint ventures, which is defined as the reportable segment
profit/loss for this particular segment. Reportable segment assets
represent the Group’s share of net assets of the joint ventures.
Revenue of joint ventures is not presented as reportable segment
revenue because it is not reviewed by the Group’s senior executive
management for resource allocation purposes.

o (A

Vigi B3 BNV SN

WP AG 0 TR R B B 4y BE o B IR > A SR
AT BN B DL T B R KT
S FOAR B AR - HE R AR

R B B 5 K e B A ik e #y K A B 4P T

NHEECFTAEE > EALFEREE
- HAt Mg E  EREBIHERE - Tk
(] A% S0 B TA M He A A SEE E o A R R
WA E R B T A A HAESRE
A A Y B T~ O S R IE A B A £ 36
BfH -

g7 B 2 AT 52 a0 H A WA B S e DA A 2
3 HB BT EE AR B RN R S B R 7S L8 )
9 B I A5 B B T R B ST AE e

FA B oy W A e 1R 2 RS 5
[ B BR A S - BLIA - 78 B A0 A
AL TRB ) 2 B 46 80 Wi a8 B il
A T T3 R R R LA IR B R
A IR (B 18 ~ TR MR o AfE IR T R
BRI - BLIE - 7B e B T A 2L )
7 £ [ g g 7 488 P e B R 5 40 B 2 TH H
(9] 4% 5 0y S A (i i s FEL O L - L
il P < B HL At A8 0 i £ S AT RO AS ) 3
— PR A

BREEAGA B [ B FIE - B - TR
81 TR B A | 22 o TR RS 5 B R A
A B (RG> 5B 2EBS M85 8) ~ o
HS A HE 2 B A R A R 2 R B AR
KRl B A ~ T R Koo R B R
B 2 IR VB o3 A AR o g3 I ] 8
B E 8 T3 2 %5 HAAME N L 2 BRI RT
B A

-gEy F

AEEMZ GEEEE RSB RER
RS EREAR WL — B AT Bl
Gy AR o A SR R AR AT BUE BN B 7 B
A A BRBLAR < AT IR E )
Oy BB R SE AT R R W A R R
AT B oo R AR AR A A 2
BEFHE - MR AEESRITEE AR
RAEFEMGELEHEFUAMEERD
Bie > HL 8 8 RO R A ZH T 2 0 B A B
N o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) . .. . . . . 10. MWW (A
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) iBEH - -EHERAMEH)
Interests in joint ventures (continued) B A FEMEL ()
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided BE - FZ AER _-FWNE=ZH=4+—
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes H Ik AF B > A 4 [ 4 4L 4 42 1] 05 i AT B
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for N B AE &R 4 Tl A0 4 2R BLETE AL
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 is set out below: AT B EE R T -
Manufacture and sale of Interests in joint
garments and textiles ventures (Note) Property leasing Total
TR 0 AR B o ey ted vl BT it
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

SRRk CRoDE CEOEE CFNF CROEE CRORE CRCRE COnF
$'000 $000 $°000 $000 $000 $000 §'000 $:000
A A A A A A

Revenue from external customers 4 H AN & P BIA 183,034 228,766 - - 3,307 5,536 186,431 234,302
Inter-seqment revenue PHERFIA - - - - 766 930 766 930
Reportable segment revenue T B M A HHA 183,034 228766 - - 4,163 6466 187,197 235232

Reportable segment (loss)/profit %7 % fit#i23 (i4) /

(adjusted EBITDA) WA (HRRRAA
CEREA YT S
A (19832 (10469  (39028)  (39615) 3714 R0 (048 [44214)
Interest income ilsyen 12,424 11,203 - - - - 12,424 11,203
Finance costs BERE (760) (865) - - - - (760) (865)
Depreciation and amortisation 4 R ## 84 (3,004) (2.924) - - - - (3,004) (2,924)
Impairment losses on trade TR (R
receivables (67) (1,589) - - - - (67) (1,585)
Recovery of bad debt B 224 750 - - - - 224 750
Loss on disposal of investment i1 fi &4y ¥ A
properties - - - - (4,814) - (4,814) -
Reportable segment assets AT RHM AR 402,361 307472 400,860 450660 237,349 267301 1,049,570 1,115,433
Additions to non-current segment 4 ¥ i &
assets during the year FRBaRgE 615 350 - - - - 615 350
Reportable segment liabilities 77 2 it b % £1 % 46,938 47,672 - - - - 46,938 47,672
Note: M -
Other financial information regarding the interests in joint ventures is disclosed in BB AR ERE AR R AL B G R R M GE 149K o
note 14.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(b)

ToRE= A= —AILEE (WETH)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets

10. 7> ¥ 9t % (4 )

(b) AT RS WBCOA B R E H - BE A

and liabilities B £ 2 Bk
2025 2024
$°000 $°000
T T
Revenue BA
Reportable segment revenue JHT 24 S A 187,197 235,232
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 3 SE TS T WSO A A L g (766) (930)
Consolidated revenue EEA U 186,431 234,302
Loss Wi 81
Reportable segment loss derived from KALEMIIAZEF AT 2

the Group’s external customers B 4 &0 15 G 0B A B,

(adjusted EBITDA) Pl JE ~ Fr 5 T 3 615 A 1) 2 ) (55,146) (44,214)
Finance costs Pl A (760) (865)
Interest income L i 2 12,424 11,208
Depreciation and amortisation P85 I 4 6 (3,094) (2,924)
Net valuation losses on investment & Wy A E B 1 8

properties (6,843) (11,844)
Loss on disposal of an other financial asset A — Al 4 Rl E R (3,174) -
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYEER (4,814) -
Unallocated head office and corporate KA SRR A A

expenses (4,911) (3,027)
Consolidated loss before taxation S5 B BT S 15 (66,318) (51,671)
Assets ¥E
Reportable segment assets JHT B 4 TR E 1,049,570 1,115,433
Elimination of inter-segment assets o3 T SE T TH] A EE AR BB (40,213) (41,587)

1,009,357 1,073,846
Intangible assets WL G 2,092 2,187
Other financial assets HCAth 45 Fl L 12,536 18,153
Unallocated head office and corporate KPR LA EEE

assets 290 273
Consolidated total assets AR ERERE 1,024,275 1,094,459
Liabilities 11 i
Reportable segment liabilities AT REWMA s aE 46,938 47,672
Current tax payable JE A A 01 Bl TH 11,064 11,103
Deferred tax liabilities 0 AT ol JH 4 5,411 11,930
Unallocated head office and corporate ks bR Ve =R

liabilities 580 566
Consolidated total liabilities R AR 63,993 71,271

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED #iL#4&4 B2
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 F#k
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

(c)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and
equipment and interest in leasehold land held for own use, intangible
assets and interests in joint ventures (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case
of investment properties, other property, plant and equipment
and interest in leasehold land held for own use, the location of
the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets, and the location of operations, in the case of interests in joint
ventures.

10. 7 W8 % & (A7)

(c) MWk 23 V48 26 Rt

TR A B()A SR F 2 B AN E Bk
A5 R()AEEBEY S - AW - FE
Rekts e fF A M2 B i o - 2
HERaECEES ((FEFRBEE D
(¥ M 8 73 38 R o 5 T AE 4 2 AR S
oK BB E o R E TR B E B
B ALY 3 - BRE RS KR E R
Mz s - BT 7E MR ARDR & A
B AL B E 5 T T I
A M BT E 5 T A 36 R 4 T TE b ) 4%
L o B E e

Revenue from external Specified non-current

customers assets
K H I RE PR A s I ) ¥
2025 2024 2025 2024
SR AR SZ P ZRIHAE FUF
$’000 $000 $°000 $000
T For T T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) T T (4 42 [ Uy 72 Hb) 5,585 10,738 225,838 234,775
Europe el
— United Kingdom - BlH 61,324 61,646 = -
- ltaly -y 1,547 1,885 - -
- Spain - PUBEIF 23,043 31,797 = -
- Germany - 18 20,619 33,361 = -
— Other European countries — HAth R B R 3,299 4,368 = -
Mainland China Hp ] A e 1,458 2,895 420,656 483,669
North America JeE WM
— United States - £H 30,667 31,985 - -
- Canada - mEX 1,822 3,256 - -
Others HoAth 37,067 52,371 - -

180,846 223,564 420,656 483,669

186,431 234,302 646,494 718,444

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-AF=A=t—ALLFE (KETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. B EWE R HABYE - BB Kk
....... PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M .
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) i 4 3 MR
Ownership
interests in
land and QOther Interest in
buildings  properties leasehold
heldfor  leased for Plant and Other Investment land held
own use ownuse  machinery assets Sub-total | properties  for own use Total
WaNz KRR wERNZ
TRRMEY  SHENER AL Hey
WAEER  RHBE O RRRRE Wk At | REBE 2] wit
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i Tr i Tz i 7r Tr
Cost or valuation: WA :
At 1 April 2023 REZZZENA-H 100,830 298 24,696 63918 189,742 238,933 2,125 431,400
Exchange adjustments A% (1,802) (18) (1,146) (1,327) (4,299) (1,373) (155) (5,629
Adations BE - 199 - 161 350 - - 350
Disposals hE - (12) (186) (284) (482) - - (482)
Fair value adjustment MFEERY - - - - - (11,844) - (11,844)
AdiMach 2024 REFRESASEE oo o Bl G [ 1T 2eTM 260 | 4138
Representing; [k
Cost ik 75,262 467 23,364 62,458 161,551 - 2570 164,121
Valuation - 1988 fhlE - = LANE 23,766 - - - 23,766 - - 23,766
Valuation - 2024 il - ZFZmé - - - - - 205,114 - 205,714
99,028 467 28,364 62,458 186,317 225,114 2570 413,601
Cost or valuation: WA
At 1 April 2024 REZ-WENA-A 99,028 467 23,364 62,458 185,317 225,114 2570 413,601
Exchange adjustments EAAE (229) @ (19 (145) (391) 18 (19 (392)
Additions HE - - - 615 615 - - 615
Disposals i - - (17,579 (2,164) (19,749) (21,759 - (41,496)
Fair value adjustment ATEERE - - - - - (6,849) - (6,843)
ASIMach 2005 RERSEESASEE e oo breb  BoTed | 166 | I 251 | 65485
Representing; Rk
Cost i 75,089 463 5,766 60,764 142,032 - 2,551 144,583
Valuation - 1988 i - =LA 23,766 - - - 23,766 - - 23,766
Valuation - 2025 fhfl - 227 - - - - - 197,136 - 197,136
98,805 463 5,766 60,764 165,798 197,136 2,551 365,485

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED = 1. 8K A5 3t 23 vl
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

11. B2y 3% K JCfb Yy 3% ~ W B3 Bt

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT fhi (%)
....... (COMUNUCT) e eee oo
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) MR i 4 38 O (4F)
Ownership
interests in
land and Other Interest in
buildings  properties leasehold
heldfor  leased for Plant and Other Investment [and held
own use ownuse  machinery assets Sub-total | properties for own use Total
WREANZ DA AN
LHREEH RN A
BHEER  AEWE O BRMBRE eRE At | BERE % wit
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
7 7 i 7 i 7 7 i
Accumulated amortisation,  Rut#d » 7 RMME ¢
depreciation and impairment:
At 1 Apri 2023 REF-ZFNA-A 61,791 223 24533 61,288 147,835 - 1,680 149,515
Exchange adjustments e A (1,338) (13 (1192) (1,266) (3,809) - @) (3,906)
Charge for the year KERBRRITE 2,050 104 3 620 2717 - 5 2829
Witten back on disposals HERER - ) (161) (267) 434 - - 434
ASiMacho0d  BRCECMEZAZR-R 62503 0B 18 60875 | 146369 | - 163 | 148004
At 1 April 2024 REFZWEMNf—H 62,503 308 23,183 60375 146,369 - 1,635 148,004
Exchange acjustments EARE (166) ?) (22) (141) 331) - (13) (344)
Charge for the year KEEBHRITE 2254 9 10 586 2047 - 5 2,999
Written back on disposals HERER - - (17,552) (2,164) (19,716) - - (19,716)
AMBiMach202s BCECRESAST-R 49T 0 5619 %866 | 129260 | - ] 1674 | 13098
Net book value: W1 :
At 31 March 2025 REZZRE==4—H 34,214 60 147 2,108 36,529 197,136 877 234,542
At 31 March 2024 RoEZWE=A=1—H 36,525 159 181 2,083 38,948 225,714 935 265,597

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED & 18K 45 Bt 2 w)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

....... (continued) e

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i)

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

Fair value at

'8t E Y BN R/E BN V¥ T
i (4)

P38 1 4 1 B
4V B

RPN HOAR G AR R A B R
EEF R > WARER CFr s B85 i
HI) 551358 [ 28 P& (5 71 2 | B ¢ 2
1B (B 08 o0 B =R AR - - FEER &
B 2 0 J T 1% AG B T7 ik b B o 2 W]
1B M o M O R E

- BB E MR — SRR B
5 RIAH ] & R R AR R
BT L AR E OR PR R et A A
FEE

- AN R AR B
R OR RE AT & 58 — SR A T B g
FOR R R A AT B B AR Rt
B AE o A AT BLESHUR B R S T
5 EORL ) R

- RIS (E R E RO T LA
B R A EE

31 March Fair value measurements as at
2025 31 March 2025 categorised into
BRI
ZH=Z1—H RE-R_HAEZEAZ1—H
Z AP AT UE R B PR8N
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B .| WEHR
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T Fi Fi Fi
Recurring fair value FRHE B AP A B R
measurements
Investment properties: fvd<L/E
— Mainland China — K - - - -
- Hong Kong - it 197,136 - - 197,136
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z_RAF=A=+—B8IFE (AUE T

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

11.

B Pk R I - BB Kk
i (A7)

....... (CONUNUEA) | eeeeeeeeoeeeeeeeeeoeees oo
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (continued) (b) XM AFEM R (F)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) 2P % (4)
Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2024 31 March 2024 categorised into
W= E A
=H=1+—H RoEFZWE=ZA =+ —H
2 NTAE (A N PAEE FT R BUR LU U
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
55— Sl ot 3 =4
$000 $°000 $000 $000
T T T T Tz T T
Recurring fair value SR B A L
measurements
Investment properties: REWE
~ Mainland China il PN 21,734 - - 21,734
- Hong Kong - H 203,980 - - 203,980

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2024: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31
March 2025. The valuations of investment properties located in
Hong Kong was carried out by independent firm of surveyor, Knight
Frank Petty Limited, who has among their staff Fellows of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location
and category of property being valued. The Group’s management
have discussion with the surveyor on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed at the end of the
reporting period.

HE F_AFE=ZA=+—HIFE %
— BLEE 4R A 2 RSl A R 5 T AR = AR A
PR BN B (T D0 AE - dE) o A
] ) T 5 S 4 H T BT B R A 1
(B @ % [ 2 1R o

ALE AR EYER F _HAFE=H
=t REATEA - LR EFEZBEY
Fh 8 57 0 R AT o e B B R AT A R
FIE A (E > B2 5% TR AAT 2 Bk B 5 & i
T AR R H > BT T AL () 3
M RO B AR o TR A R
AT A (R - 4R A LR B AT R AR
il L {8 3 S A B A 2R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z_AF=A=+—RHLEFE (&)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT i (47)
....... (CONHNUED) | et e e
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (continued) (b) P A AT (4F)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (ii) 1 B3 =05 2 BT 16 af 09 &
Valuation Unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
M8 AWBENYNE il 1 R -3
Investment properties # % W%
— Mainland China il PN Market Adjusted N/A N/A
comparison price per (2024 (2024
approach sSQ. m. RMB26,256 RMB24,400)
7 55 H % T AkZ  to RMB28,560)
A A
- Hong Kong - His Income Average $9.0 $9.0
capitalisation market rent (2024: $9.1) (2024: $9.1)
approach per sq. ft.
Wi i & A AL per month
CiRCRES 4 H BT
75 WU A FH 4
Capitalisation 4.3% 4.3%
rate (2024: 4.2%) (2024: 4.2%)
AL b

11. 8%y 3% K e fb Yy 2% ~ W B3 Bt

At 31 March 2024, the fair value of investment properties located
in Mainland China was determined using market comparison
approach by reference to recent actual sales and/or asking price
of comparable properties on a price per square meter, adjusted for
quality and location of the buildings and income potential. Higher the
value of adjusted price will result in a higher fair value measurement.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair value of investment properties
located in Hong Kong is determined using income capitalisation
approach by capitalising the rent derived from the existing
tenancies with reference to market rent and the provision for
any reversionary income potential. The capitalisation rate used in
income capitalisation approach has been adjusted for the expected
market rental growth, occupancy rate and quality and location of
the buildings. The fair value measurement is positively correlated
to the market rent and negatively correlated to the risk-adjusted
capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in
the line item “net valuation losses on investment properties” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Exchange adjustment of investment properties is recognised in other
comprehensive income in “exchange reserve”.

All the gains/losses recognised in profit or loss for the year arise
from the properties held at the end of the reporting period.

BoFEDWMEZA=Z—H o LR E K
FE 9 25 & W) 36 09 A S B ()5 B T TG L
ek S - 30 2 5 T i By 36T 0 4k
POk Z E RS K B o ROt
B B e B o DL KR < i g Y 0 A o
BE o g (R 00 R B AR BB R
P EF R -

B FREL F NEZA =t
ERRROY R NE S &7/ J PSR FDAE7S
Mg is EAAL R L B 2 - RZOr B A
BAMANHEE kG EAL - 2 BiE
g BLREE A Z Y 36 A0 #1098 4% 7T AE
R B 2 B o AR E AL R i P T
FHE A AL B R COARGR %M T 10 T 3 T
M3 R > (5 A ML T 095 & 8 55
R AR R o 2P (AR T (E A
SIEBMR > H B Ja By o8 B AR 1 E AL L
RERHEAR o

BEYEN N EEAER G E
H

fik b
9 45 B Wy S A A 1800 ) JHLH o e a2

B W) 26 09 N 5L 9 B Tl SR T H A 4 T i 4R
N2 [l S Ak A )

A4 B T 1R i 0 Tl RR Y BT A M ARl 4R Y
RENRGFEHBRERYE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER 11. BEWE R b E - W5 %k

86

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT i (4%)
....... (oMU ) e e
(¢) Right-of-use assets (c) f JHBEHE A
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of iz AH BE 7 43 I A RE A E A R T VR
underlying asset is as follows: AT -
2025 2024
Note $°000 $’000
iz FIi T 7T
Ownership interests in leasehold land and A& #ERHE A A2 L E i
buildings held for own use, carried at To M 1 A RERE 22 (4%
depreciated cost in Hong Kong, with YT AT HR) 1Y Fl £k FH
remaining lease term between 10 and WA+ = 14
50 years 26,623 28,877
Ownership interests in buildings held for NS AMRAE B 2
own use, carried at depreciated cost PR 0 A R RE & (22 7 85 A%
outside Hong Kong, with remaining AT B 1 e i A T R
lease term between 10 and 50 years b B s i s 7,591 7,648
(i 34,214 36,525
Interest in leasehold land held for own use 5 EH M2 & L HAYHERS (i) 877 935
Other properties leased for own use, Hoth 5 2 FH0 6 9 2600 B 4
carried at depreciated cost (G785 AR 51 B ) (iii) 60 159
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 95,151 37,619
Ownership interests in leasehold L 45 W 2E 0 Bl A RERE 45
investment property, carried at fair (FE A TEE SR 1R ik
value, with remaining lease term THEWR 2 14
between 10 and 50 years 197,136 225,714
232,287 263,333

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED FiL#&4 BA v
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

11.

()

(ii)

ToRE= A= —AILEE (WETH)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

11. 8%y 3% K e fb Yy 2% ~ W B3 Bt

i (47)

(c) 6 i B %F % (A)

T 18 i ke B 2 L AR B 2 B S IE E 2 A
LU

2025 2024
R hAE R
$°000 $000
T Fr
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets i BRI ) 20 1) i R RE
by class of underlying asset: EENELM
Ownership interests in leasehold land and FrEA R E L KT
buildings A RERE £ 2,254 2,050
Interest in leasehold land held for own use FrfE B 2 & 1 s i 25 52 52
Other properties leased for own use Ha gz HEY#E 97 104
2,403 2,206
Interest on lease liabilities (note 4(a)) ME A MBS (K it4(a) 5 5
Expense relating to short-term leases B 191 FH B AH BH 2 2 117 143

During the year ended 31 March 2025, additions to right-of-use
assets were $nil (2024: $199,000). This amount primarily related
to the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities and the future cash outflows arising from leases
that are not yet commenced are set out in notes 18(d) and 26(b),
respectively.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for own use

The Group holds several industrial and commercial buildings
as administrative offices, staff quarters and factories where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the whole or
part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests from their
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease.

Interest in leasehold land held for own use

The Group was granted with land use rights for a period of 50 years
on leasehold lands located in the PRC. The Group is the registered
user of these lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the land use rights from the government authorities and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
lease.

(i)

HE X HRHE=ZH=+—HILFEE
N i RE R RO F T (F P A
199,00070) - #% 4 8 3 2 BLAR B8 07 A & s
MBS ERCHENRER -

A B B U AR B R EIRE D
AT K2 ¥ A B s 9 AL B A 9 R A B
W % 23 7l S B RE18(d) 22 26(b)

FF1E H i B 67 1 b B B 5 19 B A7 B

AL T A 2 T SE M e AR AR B
FEEAEERMTIERNER - BT & &
TR o AR 4R B 7 5% 4 W) SE R AR A9 5T A
& o AR AR B 2 oK AE 2 B B9 AR B L
B8 o 1 FL T T B A AR g S A
HIT 00 JE A R S W) SR 4 - AR TR T AR
A RN R A ) I S o

(i) F#4F 5 i #l 6 1 76 4 2

A 4R 7 74 v I Y AL R 2 35048
(¥ - i (P HE o A 4R B Ry % S b i RE A
FrA N B SO — S0 A 1 3 - DL B
RF & Ja 4 T 3t 5 R o AR B AR B ek
I 5 A AN AR B SA e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHEZZT
11.

(@)

(e)

®

“hE=A=+—HILFE (K& T

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its staff
quarters (2024: staff quarters) through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of one to two years (2024
one to two years). Lease payments are usually increased every one
to two years (2024: one to two years) to reflect market rentals.

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to two years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

The Group’s total future undiscounted lease payments under

11.

(c)

B Pk R I - BB Kk
i (47)
5

iii) H A 7 Al &Y ¥

(d)

A% 48 [H 375 A LAY T ek IRUAS At 2 i
AR EAHB THEE (W U4FE: BT
) > WEHESHMY —E —F2m
(SR —FEEWAE) o B
B EWE (RPN —EFERFE)
L DU T A 4 e

e BAITZ Al B Y%

AEBMUKEHEAHMHREYE - M
BEaMENN— B —FEWE > L H
A HE SR PR TE AT 12 ALA > T I BT A R A R
ANk o BT A B A AN LA
SR E A3

AL BRI A AT B BRI R E ] S ATE H

non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: 1% JEE AL Y A A A Pt BURE B A Sk A A 0 R
2025 2024
R OHAE R NUE
$°000 $°000
Fi F T
Within 1 year — LI 1,730 2,166
Impairment losses (e) WA NG 4

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, in view of
the losses sustained by certain business units of the Group,
management considered that indicators of impairment of other
property, plant and equipment existed. When the indication of
impairment is identified, management assessed the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs and concluded that no impairment losses or
reversal of previously recognised impairment losses is required.

Disposal of investment properties

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group disposed
investment properties located in Mainland China at a consideration
of Renminbi (“RMB”) 16,389,000 (equivalent to $17,651,000). Net
loss on disposal of investment properties amounting to $4,814,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

()

HWE T - HFEK T _-_NFE=H=1+—
H ook 4F B > 88 AS 48 [154 F 26 0% B 0 Bk A5
b 18 B E R 4 Homh i 2 - R B Rk A
ARG B B R o H W B R b e
H%% > A BT AT A B A A AR R 0 nl

G 0 RR A B ZE EER W s 4R B (0]
S'BHM:E AOR:RI=N ZEiZ

HIR X <7k

HE_EZ_HE=A=Z+—HILEE
A4 LA R 16,389,000 (A1 H
17,651,00070) W9 (8 & & AR B R
W EWE A E T HF= H
= — H IR R A 4 R PR
& W) 2 s 1505 464,814,000 7T »
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS o 2P RE L AR
Club debentures
bE
2025 2024
R ZE YA
$°000 $°000
T Fr
Cost: WA
At the beginning of the year T AR 2,986 3,309
Disposal i - (323)
At the end of the year A 4 2,986 2,986
Accumulated amortisation: Bl ¥y -
At the beginning of the year R AER] 799 704
Charge for the year A 4 8 95 95
Atthe end of theyear @R 894 799
Net book value: Y i AL -
At the end of the year T AE A 2,092 2,187

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “other operating
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

13. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 13.

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group at 31
March 2025 and 2024. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

AR E N C A A SRR RN H
ftl 58 A

L EMWE A A

TRESIR FHAFER T CNEZA
St —H s HAKEES BESAMESA
HEREBZEEME LA 25N BRAH
SEWIAN o B R A 2 2 A A

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s
establishment issued and effective
Name of company and business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
sk i S A% A 4R 1
A £ B 88 BB AR B P 2 ER ST
Hong Kong Knitters Limited Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares 100% Garment
T Al A PR ) it 3,000,000/% manufacturing and
investment holding
JRAR B 5 T
Exquisite Knitters (Guangzhou) Limited The People’s Republic 2025:  2025: 100%  Knitting and dyeing
(Note 1) of China (“the PRC”) HK$53,600,000 (2024: 100%) of fabrics and
oA () A BRA /¢ (B a7 o (2024: manufacturing
HK$75,600,000) of garments
ik aE - B g
A i
# The English translation of the name is for reference only. The official name g AED P AN EXMEBENE T

of the entity is in Chinese. This is also a wholly-owned foreign investment
enterprise registered in the PRC.

Note 1: Exquisite Knitters (Guangzhou) Limited has reduced its paid-up capital by
HK$22,000,000 during the year ended 31 March 2025.

PER S5 o 500 A By b B R M or 2 A
BRI BE AR -

HtaET - s R (BN A IRA AR EE % 0
= H = B R RO AR
4»22,000,000% T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES = . 4. g BEEMR
2025 2024

SR HAE e Sy 11 s S

$°000 $°000

T o

Share of net assets JEAL & R 409,860 450,660

Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures, which is accounted
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements,
are as follows:

A4 T LI 35 0 0 o ST B R SUIR 2 A
ST

Place of Group’s
establishment effective
Name of joint venture and business interest  Principal activities
HREEAR J O B B8 T ALEMEEREG BEEH
Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 1) The PRC 49% In\(estment holding
S — M E A RN R (Hi1) 1 B R
Taizhou Changxin Textile (Xinghua) Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacturing of
MR WS4 (BLAL) A PR A wl* Tt textile products
B4l Rk
Wuxi Shenxin Textile Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacturing of
308 855 FR R A A A PR R el textile products
Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Inactive
3970 L 5 A R A il L EY £5
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacturing and
I 557 VK 5 1 kA PR ) Hh sale of textiles
Wuxi Shenxin Import and Export Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Trading
S5 R R A A BR A ) B g5
GYT (HK) International Development Limited* Hong Kong 49%  Investment holding
i BE R
GYTA (Cayman) Investment Co., Ltd* Cayman Islands 49%  Investment holding
b2 R 5 BB
GYTB (BVI) Investment Co., Ltd* British Virgin Island 49%  Investment holding
(‘BVI") BOETEIR
£ T aeid
GYTC (BVI) Development Co., Ltd* BVI 49% Inactive
55 R LR
Wuxi Number One Cotton Ethiopia Textile PLC* Ethiopia 49% Integrated manufacturing of
BIEM I e yarn, fabric and garment

As at 31 March 2025, Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. was in the process of

deregistration.
* Wholly owned subsidiaries of Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd.
L These joint ventures are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in

the PRC. The English translation of the names of the joint ventures is for
reference only. The official names of these entities are in Chinese.
Note 1:  Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. is established by the Group
and other joint venture partners in Wuxi. It holds the above mentioned
subsidiaries which are mainly engaged in the production of medium
range to high graded compact yarn, special textile products and
garment products.

Tt St R =Y R T Pr
A7 R 24 7 1E 75 030 4 5 o

85— M B IR ) 2 2 A A )

” WA A SRR B R B L 2 R ANE
R AR o IR LR
T AR 2 T2

Bfatt o IS — AR BCEA IR R 2 A SR M B AL

BRI ISR S 2 A3 o FLBEA SO

Az W AR > EEEEAEE T EEE

K5 50 817 40 ~ A B B 4 E ity A E o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA A

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 &%



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-T-_RAF=RA=1+—HILFE (KET)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 14.

All the joint ventures in which the Group participates are unlisted
corporate entities whose quoted market prices are not available.

Summarised financial information of Wuxi No.1 Cotton Investment
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

TR S (4)

AEBZHENTHGERE HHETS
WAE ) I BT~ ] o

I 85 — A BUE A IR 2> 7 K W 8 o ) A5
HEftBORER R MBEERNME - K
A MR P IREE AR EWT

2025 2024
ZR AR R AR
$°000 $'000
T Fr
Gross amounts of joint ventures HE-EE 3 L
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,208,038 1,249,337
Current assets L) 1,249,349 978,373
Non-current liabilities JEE) B E (411,602) (333,794)
Current liabilities i B A A (1,209,336) (974,202)
Equity HE £ 836,449 919,714
Included in the above assets and liabilities: LG E Ll ) A M B
Cash and cash equivalents We R &5 EY 103,359 56,382
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade i B 4 Rl A AR OR 645 AT
and other payables and provisions) MR S B HL At 8 AT 35 B B ) (905,179) (811,832)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding TE T B 4 AR OB 568 JE AT
trade and other payables and provisions) R 3 o HL At JE AT 35 B B ) (396,802) (317,626)
Revenue PN 1,255,720 1,316,910
Loss from continuing operations RS ET IR (79,648) (80,847)
Other comprehensive income At 4 T 0k AR 2,572 6,590
Included in the above loss: AR Ll i s 18
Depreciation and amortisation P85 K 6 (71,885) (68,838)
Interest income FlE k28 695 196
Interest expense IS %l (48,062) (51,050)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ¥ % ~ 5 K w5 B (E - (15,299)
Income tax credits JIT A% B 4K 17,131 14,044
Reconciled to the Group’s interests in ARS8 AR BHR
the joint ventures
Gross amounts of net assets of the joint AECEEEIFEHAH
ventures 836,449 919,714
Group’s effective interest A4 B PR RE 25 49% 49%
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial i % £ o %5 # 3 1% 1fi (&
statements 409,860 450,660
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B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE—

“hE=A=+—HILFE (K& T

15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

15, 30 fib 4 b ¥

2025 2024
ZRTHAE E U
$°000 $'000
T F T
Equity securities designated at FVOCI i 5 ¥ 08 Al 2 v WK 2 1 A 1R
(non-recycling) NV 08 DB A s 23 (A W) ok ol )
- Unlisted equity securities — Ik b THORHE R 8,900 14,942
— Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong — — & #3540 b 17 I i vk 7 3,636 3,211
12,536 18,153
The Group designated the following investments in equity securities AR A LU 4508 3 iR H A 2 T Ik 65 1%

at FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investments are held for strategic
purposes:

(@)

Companhia de Electricidade de Macau (C.E.M.) SARL, a
company incorporated in Macau and engaged in transmitting,
distributing and selling of electricity in Macau. The fair value
of the investment is $8,900,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
$9,449,000). Dividends of $547,000 were received from this
investment during the year (2024: $533,000).

World Trade Centre Macau Co. Limited, a company
incorporated in Macau and engaged in development
and promotion of international trade. The fair value of the
investment was $5,493,000 at 31 March 2024. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has disposed the
investment for resource optimisation purpose. Loss on disposal
amounting to HK$3,174,000 was recognised in the profit or
loss accordingly.

Toyota Tsusho Corporation, a company incorporated
and listed in Japan and engaged in general trading and
manufacturing. The fair value of the investment is $1,054,000
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: $1,372,000). No dividends were
received from this investment during the year (2024: $nil).

Travelite Holdings Limited, a company incorporated and listed
in Singapore and engaged in investment holding and provision
of management services. The fair value of the investment is
$2,582,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: $1,839,000). No
dividends were received from this investment during the year
(2024 $nil).

OV B BR B e HE R S (O mT B [m] ) AR 5K
SR EHENIDES S <ok

(a)

M E T B A R A — R R
[ Al /NI I (R L W i 1
W~ D EMEEEE S ML - F A
HEZHZ=Z+—H1k - ZHENA T
8 {H £8,900,0007C ( — & — P4 4F :
9,449,0007C) ° AAF B AL I IH I E
2 §t547,00000 B8 (U F U AE ¢
533,0007C) °

N A TN o /A El 7N P
Sl 11119 I 1 v B/ i A 1 =
WRMAEEEE S o B % 4R
“H=1—H ZRENATEES
5,493,00070 « # & ~ & “H4E Z A
=t —HILFE > AEED B SR
EUELE R E - I B ERER
3,174,000 JC B it 18 25 0 TER2 -

[ R G 7R W = W Sl 11 ) A E N
FR AR L YA G ST I /A B A (1 A
Mo A EEE - HIE_F R
EZAZF Bk ZRENAT
5 8 #1,054,0007C (& — Y 4F :

1,372,0007C) ° A 4F J 1A Sl 0 3 ot I
GBS (% AR ) o

Travelite Holdings Limited/& — [ %
BT 2 YA S S T /A I 1 2
B P R PR AL B RS - ik —E
ZHEZH=Z1T—HIE > ZRENA
FE(E £52,582,00000 (& U4 ¢

1,839,0007C) ° 4 4F JE (A lf 0 3 ot I
BB BB S (& PU4E - M) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

16. INVENTORIES

(a) FEAREFMERERQE

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position

comprise:
2025 2024
SROFE SR
$°000 $°000
T N
Raw materials JEAE F 391 457
Work in progress TE 35, 6,615 7,172
Finished goods B 1,728 401
8,734 8,030

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

(b) A7 5 4 U5 A5 3t B A 65 % 45 28 P 9 22 i

and included in profit or loss is as follows: nE

2025 2024

SRR R4

$°000 $°000

T Fr

Carrying amount of inventories sold 176 8 85 MR 1 (. 151,694 189,334
Write-down of inventories A7 B ok 1,353 1,381
Reversal of write-down of inventories A7 B ek 43 ] (1,030) (866)
152,017 189,849

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose
due to an increase in the net realisable value of garment products by
reference to the sales made during the year and subsequent to the

year end.

AR T 2 A7 R MO AR (] ) AR AR E
T A T B A A AR W S 4 T A B

S5 FE T 5 B (E A A R 0 BT B -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z_RAF=A=+—B8IFE (AUE T

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17, K6 W Wi sk B 3G i JE Wk

2025 2024

SRR TR P4

$°000 $'000

T For

Trade debtors JRE Wi B R 19,299 40,242

Bills receivable JRE Wi 22 4% 1,250 1,554

Less: loss allowance (note 26(a)) W R (K iE26(a) (3,532) (3,290)

17,017 38,506

Deposits, prepayments and other debtors BT~ TEAST 3K B o Ath 1 i 3 7,169 6,462
Amounts due from related companies JE Vi B 2 W) BIE (M aE28(b)

(note 28(b)) 132 137

Derivative financial instruments firtE 4 T H 57 223

24,375 45,328

Substantially all of the Group’s trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as an expense within one

year.

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and recoverable on demand except for those trade

related items under normal trade terms.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is

f7 5 4 %88 0 B IR i (] o

W 8% 2> B

7 B2 ) 2 A R Ay B AR T B L A R Wi sk
T A — 4 P i [ R R A S e

Br TTEIE W & 5 N rigEfT 2 %8 5 - 1
Wi R % ) RO IR AR AT - AR ALE

TR H > AR RS H O A0 BR s 1R
75 119 JE WA HR Tk e WA SR 4R (2 R MR
X S H A B ) B R B S AT AR

as follows:
2025 2024
ZR TR TR TP
$°000 $000
T Fr
Within 1 month — 1 A LA 5,176 12,011
Over 1 month but within 2 months — @A 2L EAEFAR A LA 4,654 8,160
Over 2 months but within 3 months Wi AE A LA B =48 LA 3,335 4,088
Over 3 months but within 4 months =R A L B E A B A 2,033 6,104
Over 4 months PO A 2Lk 1,819 8,143
17,017 38,506

JARE Wiz R K B M i S A BE B K 32042210
H (ZFZDU4E : 0F180H) MW - A
A AR B A5 UK I FE G R B EE26(a) -

Trade debtors and bills receivable are due between 0 to 210 days
(2024: 0 to 180 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 26(a).

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 £ 3



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-AF=A=t—ALLFE (KETH)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 18. Bl & K AT &5 i B L fb Bl 4 G i
....... CASHFLOW INFORMATION B e
(a) Cash and bank balances comprise: (a) RERBITHEBAR
2025 2024
$°000 $°000
T N
Cash at bank and in hand AT 4 B KL & 69,132 58,556
Bank deposits SRAT
— within three months to maturity — A7 B IR A SR A A 2 A
when placed 53,778 130,431
— more than three months to maturity — 17 2 R B i 3 A 3 )
when placed 209,226 115,517
332,136 304,504
Represented by: Rk :
Cash and cash equivalents e KRB &% EY 122,910 188,987
Bank deposits AT 209,226 115,517
332,136 304,504

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED = 1. 8K A5 3t 23 vl
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 &R



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 18. Bl & K B4 &5 8k R JUfb B & 90 B
....... CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) . ¥ERL(E) ...
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash generated from/(used (b) BRmWEEHREKRBEENS, (W) 14
in) operations: Z Bk
2025 2024
SR AR R
Note $°000 $°000
B 7 T Fr
Loss before taxation ok i 1T s 1R (66,318) (51,671)
Adjustments for: ELE
Dividend income from equity securities JBCHERE 75 2 B B i 4 3 (547) (533)
Interest income I i 25 3 (12,424) (11,203)
Net loss/(gain) on disposals of other ALY 2 - BB R
property, plant and equipment a8, (l #s) V3 4 3 24 (127)
Loss on disposal of an other financial H B — A 45 il R s 1R
asset 3 3,174 -
Loss on disposal of intangible assets i A Y e 1R 3 - 323
Loss on disposal of investment LR E Y ¥R 1R
properties 3 4,814 -
Finance costs Bl AR 4(a) 760 865
Amortisation of intangible assets TV 7 B 4(c) 95 95
Depreciation g 4(d) 2,999 2,829
Share of losses of joint ventures JEAL A7 A ¥ 1R 39,028 39,615
Net valuation losses on investment & W 2E A (E e 185 3
properties 11(a) 6,843 11,844
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) BEE 52,5 46, (Wi 45 ) 4,421 (4,296)
Changes in working capital: S
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 78 (3 m) b (704) 8,288
Decrease in trade and other receivables  JE I B 3 Kz At FE g 3 i /D> 20,787 5,394
Decrease in trade and other payables JRE AT B A e H At B ASE s D (4,546) (2,103)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities & #1& &8, (8 ») 5,767 (2,605)
Payment of employee benefits 1l B A& A 22 52 W (1,782) (1,045)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations %845 2% BT 45, (A ) B4 2,391 (4,330)

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 £ 3



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=-A=t—HLLEFE (KET)

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

 BLE B AT & Bk B UL B R B
YR (4)

3 O A 2k A 2 IR

R R A S O ) T R R A
(EEB & R EEE) - MEEH G
£ AR B4 U B EOR AR B & U B A R A SR
B A B4 A B R Th o U B B T A

Lease liabilities (Note 21)

R B (B at21)
2025 2024
SRR TR T4
$°000 $'000
T For
At the beginning of the year WAER 164 74
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSWEE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid BT E L4 2 B AT (99) (101)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT A 4 2 F B B4 (5) (5)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ MEREwEEHAH (104 (106)
Exchange adjustments RE 58 i ¢ (1) 2
Other changes: HAbsE ) -
Increase in lease liabilities from entering AF AT S AH B E A 0 LR A
into new leases during the year B4 - 199
Decrease in lease liabilities from early P AT A% 11 LB W A B B D
termination of leases - (6)
Interest expenses (note 4(a)) FIE 2 (M it4(a) 5 5
Total other changes  AfeE®;&wm 5 198
At the end of the year AR £ 64 164

Total cash outflow for leases

(a)

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for

(d) ALITBLA A

GABleRBERTPHENEBEARHUTH

leases comprise the following: H -
2025 2024
SBodif —FoNE
$°000 $°000
T T T
Within operating cash flows Jog i R B U 117 143
Within financing cash flows o s il B 4 U 104 106
221 249

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED &L 3K 45 B2 ¥
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES = = = . 19, MEAS Mok R MM EAE %
2025 2024
ZE AR R
$°000 $°000
T Fr
Trade creditors JRE A R K 7,193 14,195
Accrued charges and other creditors JE ST 2 B H Al RE A 3k 23,493 21,241
Amounts due to a related company (note 28(b)) AT — B % 2\ &) 2K JE (M 7228(b)) 190 254
Amounts due to a joint venture (note 28(b)) JEAT — 8 A 263 IA (M 7E28(b) 13 13
30,889 35,703
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or JIT AT B AT H 3 B At R ST R T A A% A — 4
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand. TR 75 ol e 5 A AT A T 942 3 0 R IR B 2 -
The amounts due to a related company and a joint venture are BRTHEIEWRE DGR FITEGTZZ S
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for those T—BEA R R — A E A ERIE R R A K
trade related items under normal trade terms. EUNI NS DS R (= v SRR =8
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade RESEH o RIEEEE 0 AR (B R
creditors (which are included in trade and other payables), based on AT B 3 B H At R A ) 1 B 5% 43 T
the invoice date, is as follows: T
2025 2024
SRR R4
$°000 $000
T T
Within 1 month — AL 3,861 6,132
Over 1 month but within 2 months —A@ A 2L EAEFAR A LA 2,001 4,856
Over 2 months but within 3 months W A LA B AR =48 H BLY 520 2,157
Over 3 months =AML 811 1,050
7,193 14,195

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 MY =E

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE—_ZT-_RAF=RA=+—HIFE (L Ersl)
20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20 @&As
2025 2024
R T ZER A
$°000 $°000
T S
Receipts in advance from customers P FEAT 7,750 1,983

The Group receives advances from customers before the delivery
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities upon receipt of
payment. Revenue recognised when the related goods are sold to
the customers. The payment arrangement is negotiated on a case
by case basis with customers.

WA G 22 A & T IR RS T AT AR
o AW AT BRI R A R
W AT HE B A R TR S R R o AT K
22 PR T AR R FL B DU SRR B 7 T E

Movements in contract liabilities EHAMEE
2025 2024
R TNAE B S 111 i
$°000 $°000
T Tz
Balance at 1 April WA —H 2 &% 1,983 4,588
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of A A& A A R N AT
recognising revenue during the year that EEA A E 2 T I D
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (1,976) (2,924)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of A # A B TR B & R U T 3
receipts in advance of performance 7,743 319
Balance at 31 March =HZ=1—HZ&% 7,750 1,983

None (2024: none) of receipts in advance of performance is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year.

. LEASE LIABILITIES 21.

At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

WA B AR e (A )A)
T A B8 — AR R A A

L5 £ A

BRoE_RE=H=+—H HEAMKZ
R W T

2025 2024

“ROHAE O

$°000 $°000

Fi FIi

within 1 year . —f#BK4 6 99
After 1 year but within 2 years  —FEEWFELN - 65
64 164

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RiT#& 45 B A 6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 22. B N R VL P W i 4 B
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) HEWMBRAEXD A ARBBLEE :

represents:
2025 2024
e S X R4
$°000 $000
T T L
Current tax payable JE A A A ol 1 11,064 11,103

(b) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised: (b) BHEBHREBE CERE) Al :

(i) The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the (i) B & Bk U0 4 i 72 09 38 # B (B
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during FE) B 5 1 AL S B R AE B B %2 B
the year are as follows: T

Depreciation
allowances in
Revaluation  excess of the Provision for  Undistributed
of investment related  Provision for long service profits of
properties  depreciation inventories payments  joint ventures Tax losses Total
8% WEHRY R & whEE
WEER  ZHELRE B Bl ASREN Lk 2 it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T
Deferred tax arising from: M BFAH :
At 1 April 2023 REZFZZENA-A 5975 6,250 (189) 3,026) 10,164 (3,571) 15,603
Exchange adjustments vt 2 (312) 39 1 164 (557) - (655)
(Credited)/charged to MRG R GEA) /B
profit or loss (1,425) 245 (19 462 (518) (1,769) (3,018)
At 31 March 2024 REZZIME
=HEt-0 4,238 6,534 (191) (2,400) 9,089 (5,340) 11,930
At 1 April 2024 RZZZWENA-H 4,238 6,534 (191) (2,400) 9,089 (5,340) 11,930
Exchange adjustments [ 5% 3 ?) (1) () (37) - (39
(Credited)/charged to REGR GEA) /5
profit or loss (4,241) 1] 192 2,402 (3641) (1119) (6,480)
At 31 March 2025 REEZRE
ZH=+-H 5 6,459 S 5 5,411 (6,459) 5,411
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position (ii) 37 5 Y %k 0 7 Yk
2025 2024
R AR ZFE YA
$°000 $°000
T T T

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the TE 55 A BA TS IR DL 2R A58 1Y
consolidated statement of financial position I JE B IH A AR E 5,411 11,930

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

22,

ToRE= A= —AILEE (WETH)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(1),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of $16,605,000 (2024: $8,244,000) and other
temporary differences of $9,706,000 (2024: $4,000) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the temporary
differences can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction of the entities. Tax losses amounting to $16,605,000
(2024: $8,244,000) do not expire under the relevant current tax
legislation.

. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of $30,000. The employer’s contributions to the MPF
scheme vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme in Hong Kong for those employees who were
eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme is operated in
a way similar to the MPF scheme, except that when an employee
leaves the scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employee
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited employer’s
contributions or refunded to the employer.

The employees of subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC
are members of a state-sponsored retirement scheme organised
by the local government in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of payroll, to the
retirement scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these retirement schemes is to make the
required contributions under the terms of the scheme.

22.

B A 85 5K BL 3 B s g O 4 Bt
(%)

AR W B W IE 4 BT

R S B EE () A9 & FE B 5 AR 4
KR AT M E A m R B BUS R A
B A 2 AT Bl TECE B #016,605,0007C (.
F D4R 8,244,0007T) M HiAth T IF 2 R
9,706,00070 (=& U4 : 4,0000C) - H
AR ER BB A Em S > Al
B F 2 B IRF 25 B DLHE B o Al SR 3
Z e EARAK o AR PR AT B BLAT BLES 1 6
& F 1 B s 18 & 4£16,605,00000 (-
F T4 8,244,0000C) ©

- BB EE Bk A

7R B2 B 4% RO A R O A w1 2 AR
5 A s R 6 Bl 18 1 2 R B AR Tl
AR &R ([REeFE ) - BRER
# 7% B2 OB ARG B SL AR RENE
Mo MR PR A Bt (R KR B
Sz kB R B A B 2 WA 2 5%
Koo Medg A B A 2 EBR £$30,0007C -
18 = 1 5 A < A 2 3k R Ik i e R

E o

AW o A IR 5 S 2 B IR
O T A G B SE AR IR R B 2 AR B ESL
AEE o %t 3 DU ) 58 A i w3 2 O XA
BoOMEHEAERTSER M= AAEE
1 B 13t 3T B > B Wiz R E RO
PEWAR SR B 4% 2 Bt SR 2 R & -

A £ [ o R ST 2 B 2 R 2 B B S
180 b BT AL Ak 2 W AL A IR B
ZHE - ZEME AR HERE TEZ A
T 23 AR AR ARG B R o A 4 R
PR E 80 BT AR 3 2 P — SAE R ST A R R
TE Z A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z_RAF=A=+—B8IFE (AUE T

24. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS =~ 24. ERALMBM .
2025 2024
ZE AR ZER YA
$°000 $°000
T Fr
At the beginning of the year R AEH] 10,388 14,051
Exchange adjustments i 5, 3 (59) (661)
Net provision/(reversal) for the year N ()

(note 4(b)) (Htat4m) 268 (1,957)
Payments during the year AN A R (1,782) (1,045)
At the end of the year i A % 8,815 10,388
Representing: 0% -

Current portion ik B A - -
Non-current portion JE I B A 8,815 10,388
8,815 10,388

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for
at least five years are entitled to long service payments (“‘LSP”) in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where an
employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or
redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal.
The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s final salary (capped at $22,500) and the years of service,
reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the
group’s contributions to MPF scheme or ORSO plans (see note 23),
with an overall cap of $390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group
does not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet
its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance,
which will eventually abolish the statutory right of an employer to
reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on its
mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme. The Government has
subsequently announced that the Amendment Ordinance will come
into effect from the Transition Date i.e. 1 May 2025. Separately,
the Government is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to
assist employers after the abolition.

R E S EMEG - A5 THWT > B8
HMZREREDHAENHBREBAHEZA R
MR 4 o 2% WL EHE B T Ik &)
Rk B b R R e B A5 E L B B AR
5 B~ R AR A TR I BRI A S
% RIEB A o = WIRE 400 RE AT 458 Y
WHE B 854 (EBR&A22,50000) KR
A T 1R A A T S R sl
i 2 4R K T 1 1 3t 3T 7 A 9 AT AT B
W (ZHME23) > BB MAE FRA
390,0007C » HHJ » A A BT H =
IR Fs 4 3 T AR S AT A B 5L 4 Bk o

W EF T AEANA S BURTIE BT B
B KOOI (R 2 BT LR SRR A N 2 i
P > A TR B 2 R & 2
i E HEA o BN BB AR 5 M A8 AT Wk 11 B
MHE(CCEF_RERLR—H) BAER -1
B > R IR FH A — TR B RE# > AR R
I A% 7y R = 5 14 S8k -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

24.

ToRE= A= —AILEE (WETH)

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued
benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective
of the contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date)
to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment
commenced before the Transition Date, the employer can continue
to use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect
of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the LSP in
respect of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date. The Group
has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition as
disclosed in note 1(s)(ii).

Under the PRC Labour Contract Law, the Group is obliged to
make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service.

The Group does not set aside any assets to fund the above
remaining obligations.

24. @ B4 A 2 1 384 (A )

o B BT B DR AR R IR AR
55 ) KL s ) o R A A K (4 S R R
A~ HH ok A AE BB EEER) B EE A 1 AT
ZEHRESR > DA B R R B RS R
W IS 4 o SR > A E B
HETC Bz 8 > AIE 32 n] 48 440 ) bkt
ZEHRE 4 w0 B R B O R B RS R R
W R IR 4 s sk Ah s R Bk B ORT Sk
R B 42 8 0 K = IR TS 4 i AR B B
LS NSRRI RS B & el S RE 8
T o A 5 [ S b ) R IO A
W73k > B EE (o) (i) B &% -

WP H G %)  AEEA TR
T T8 DU R 4 1k 52 4 A9 IR B i — 20
W9 &80 o BT SR A9 S BT AR IR R B A0 iR #¢
i MBS 4 O E

7 B2 [ Sl 45 A T DA RE S B A R B
ST -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_RF=A=1t—HLFE L ETH)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25, JBeAS ~ fifi i B B B

(a) Movements in components of equity (a) HE 2% AL By 2 5 )

A 55 T A5 B A 5 AL T 003 1) 0 A0 B R
ek BIRHR AR A HE R B R o AL A
i 1] 73 AEL B A AF A B AR A 2 5 B R

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes

104

in the Company’s individual components of equity between the o
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Investment Land and
revaluation buildings
reserve revaluation Retained
Share capital  (non-recycling) reserve profits Total
RETHEE  LRRMT
JieAk (R ) 4K 3] wit
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T Tr T T
Balanceat 1Aprl2028 RFSSENA-RAR 08418 .. s %6538 609665 . 889,061 _
Changes in equity for the year: AR
Loss for the year REEEH - - - (20,508) (20,508)
Other comprehensive income Hoit 2w - (1,468) - - (1,468)
Total comprehensive income for the year A 4E I 2 i & 4% - (1,468) - (20,508) (21,976)
Dividends approved and paid in respect Bl R AHB I | — MBS
of the previous year - - - (4,135) (4,1835)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, S el - ABAY) 61T
Balance at 31 March 2024 REFZWEZA =N 2 ER 208,418 12,977 56,533 585,022 862,950
Balance at 1 April 2024 REZFZWENA — A 258 208,418 12,977 56,533 585,022 862,950
Changes in equity for the year: ARG
Loss for the year FEEER - - - (24,785) (24,785)
Other comprehensive income Ry TIE - (1,982) - - (1,982)
Total comprehensive income for the year AV 2 i 45 44 - (1,982) - (24,785) (26,767)
Transfer to retained profits upon disposal of ! & — Ffli 4 fl & i B
an other financial asset BREERTEA - (3,158) - 3,158 -
Dividends approved and paid in respect Bl R A R | — RS
of the previous year - - - (4,135) (4,135)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, - BMO - ) s
Balance at 31 March 2025 REBDAHEZAEA - H2ER 208,418 7,837 56,533 559,260 832,048

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE=
. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(i)

(¢)

“HE=A=+—RIFE (L Exar)

Dividends

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable
to the year

25. JBeAC ~ il i B Jbe B (4)

() MEATAK 2 7] BB 5 A A A JE SR

2025 2024
ZRThAR TR T4
$°000 $°000
F F T
Final dividend proposed after the end of &S H R R B R S
the reporting period of $0.02 (2024: $0.02) B % 48 110,020
per ordinary share (=& Z U4 0.0278) 4,135 4,135

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable

i H?ﬁ%%ﬁbﬁﬂ@*%ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%
HOH R A

(ii) MEAF A 2 i JRE B 5 A7 A gL — B A

to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year JE o G RAE B o R S5 1 B
2025 2024
—R AR R TR
$°000 $'000
T FC
Final dividend in respect of the previous JE i b — W BUAR BE s Sl R AR AT
financial year, approved and paid during W% U B S A AR I S A T
the year of $0.02 (2024: $0.02) per ordinary % ## %0.027C (& —.PY4F :
share 0.027t) 4,135 4,135
Issued share capital (c) TVEEATIREAR
2025 2024
R TR TR AR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
oy ¥ H £ i g e i qE] o
’000 3000 ‘000 $'000
T I T T N
Ordinary shares, issued UE#{7ROCHE
and fully paid: W
At the beginning and A B AR A
the end of the year 206,748 208,418 206,748 208,418

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par
value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

WA WA AR ISR 1350 - AN R K5 E
Je i A FE W AE -

WA H AR E IR
A B A REAE AR 2y m e ROK & b % B —
SEH ) 2 B S o BT A AR A
R & E b2 AR SRR o
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25.

@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(e)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Nature and purpose of reserves
Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(w).

Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 1(f)).

The investment revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the Company.

Land and buildings revaluation reserve

The land and buildings revaluation reserve has been set up and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for land
and buildings set out in note 1(i).

The land and buildings revaluation reserve is not available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents a statutory reserve fund. According to the
articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC,
the subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their net
profit, as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations applicable to enterprises with foreign investment,
to the statutory reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of a dividend.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance was $230,956,000 (2024: $248,502,000). After the end
of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final dividend of
HK2 cents (2024: HK2 cents) per ordinary share, amounting to
$4,135,000 (2024: $4,135,000) (see note 25(b)(i).

25. JBe A ~ il i B e B (4)

(d) ks 5 09 PR B B
(i)  FE S it i

HE St foft #6045 TR 0 50 7 U8 0 00 36 5 < 5
SR A A 2 B AR S 25 RH o W% Ak T R
A8 B RE 1 (w) BT B 2 B B R B -

(i) HEH HA A (o)

MR 5 7 7 B 55 ¥R 4 YE HI SR 09k > 1% A
5 R AT 3] ) (45 A ¥R 25 H W3R A 1 35 2
75 i A A T AR N ST (B A B Y B
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P& FAG A AT 0 IR T AR B
AN e

(iii) 1 b Je B 5 L A ik
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(e)

A fot 485 7% 3 2 (A < o AR IR AC AR R
o B B s W) 2 A A AR A R B A
R 2R A 5% ] ELAR R T R AN S P
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] 43 2 U G
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It (. F P4 1 248,502,0007T) © b4
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25.
....... (CONHNUED) ..o
(f) Capital management (f)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans and
borrowings) plus unaccrued proposed dividends less cash and cash
equivalents (which excluded pledged deposits). Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity, less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the current financial year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from the previous financial year, was to maintain the
net debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio at a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries had outstanding interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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AR A8 37517 0L S A8 T S AR SRR A L R R
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(a)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other
entities. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank balances
and derivative financial assets is limited because the counterparties
are banks and financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the
Group does not expect any significant credit risk. The Group does
not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the end
of the reporting period, 11.7% (2024: 35.6%) and 42.6% (2024:
65.1%) of the total trade debtors and bills receivable was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the manufacture and sale of garments and
textiles segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount and for all new customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due between 0 to 210 days (2024: 0 to 180
days) from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience indicates
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance is further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

26. WA B B AT BE B it T H 2 A
e fi
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

26. VU5 L B e A T BL 2 A P
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VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS i {8 (A7)
ACONINUEA) s e
Credit risk (continued) (a) v B8 M\ K& (47)
Trade receivables (continued) MW (4 )
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure TEREINAER - F_AE=ZA=+—H
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors and bills receivable as at A A 1 THD g A TR R SR Bk 2 A R T TR
31 March 2025: W SR B R
2025
ZRTNAR
Gross carrying Provision on Net carrying
amount individual basis amount
R AR A 0 ) o YR i ¥ L
$°000 $°000 $°000
T F T
Current (not past due) B HA (S 4 A7) 15,471 - 15,471
Less than 61 days past due > 61 H 1,223 - 1,223
61 to 90 days past due M HA61 H 290H 4 - 4
More than 90 days past due i 90 H DA E 3,851 (8,532) 319
20,549 (3,532) 17,017
2024
TR T4
Gross carrying Provision on Net carrying
amount individual basis amount
MR AR o ) e Y 3 A MR T 9 (B
$000 $’000 $’000
T T T T T T
Current (not past due) B (S 4 1) 32,946 (326) 32,620
Less than 61 days past due i H > iR 61 H 7,216 (1,396) 5,820
61 to 90 days past due 61 H Z90H - - -
More than 90 days past due i 90 H DA E 1,634 (1,568) 66
41,796 (3,290) 38,506
Provision on individual basis of $3,532,000 (2024: $3,290,000) WZE_RAFEZH=T—H > AWBIA M
is recognised as at 31 March 2025 for customers with financial I HE R & P R 3 #53,532,0000T (-
difficulties. The credit risk for trade receivables of the remaining Z Y 4E 1 3,290,0000C) o FE R A
customer is limited after considering actual loss experience over the B s 48 8 B~ ic 4 b A B A T A9 R
past, economic conditions during the period over which the historic U~ BRI L B A 4R [ ) i R R TE 0 A
data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of MR RSIR DL - 8RB P R R R
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. 5 F )b 2 A BRI

109



110

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(b)

26. VU5 L 0 e A T BL 2 A P

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of each reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. The cash flow requirements
for derivative financial instrument arising from forward foreign
exchange contracts are separately provided as the contractual
maturities are essential for the understanding of the timing of the
cash flows.

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS i (A7)
ACONTINUEA) s e
Credit risk (continued) (a) 1 52 ML BE (4)
Trade receivables (continued) MW S (4 )
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors AN AR SR A B R SR A 2 e 4R A
and bills receivable during the year is as follows: Z ARG UL R
2025 2024
et [ S R4
$°000 $000
T Fr
As at 1 April AW H—H 3,290 1,750
Impairment losses recognised during the year — 4F A ffé 5% I {E s 18 671 1,585
Amounts written off during the year AF T B 4 A (205) (45)
Recovery of bad debt AR i ] (224) -
As at 31 March W=H=+—H 3,532 3,290
Liquidity risk (b) ¥ ) ¥ 4 M, B

AL N0 R EERAAT R A
ZBEER . QB EmRNEREE -
AR 2 BOR By 8 W EDEE B AT R 2R
BB T B DU O LA R R A B K A
Lo n] By R 5 Bl b g Mok 3 B R
TR 2 FEAR R Wi B R > AR A

TRAAEHRSLEHHZ M EEREA
oLz 1o R A0 S0 BR AR SR TR 5 R i 2 Al
£ R B A AR B B AL AR A e SRR
Jor 4 B 2 R A CORT AR B Bl 2 B iR
o EMSNE S A R 2 AT R e m T A
EWMBC MRS - Ha KT H TR
T B4 U R 2 IR ] N B o
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. MR BEEM LM T HZ AT

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS i (4)
....... (CONNUEA) o eeeeeeeeeeeeeoeeeees oo
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) ) 4 B ()
2025 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ot A K S A& B R WG B B4 G
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 March
)=V ]
—4EN —AER Wi SE% Zr=[F
BIRBR 1 4R N 1 T ARE ol 2 M Wi
$°000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $°000
T T T FIi T
Lease liabilities & & & 65 - - 65 64
Trade and other  REfT AR 3K &
payables H Ath AT 3K 30,889 - - 30,889 30,889
30,954 - - 30,954 30,953
2024 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
TE P4 G &) bR B RY B
Within More than More than
1 year 1 year but 2 years but Carrying
or on less than less than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 March
W=H
—4EN — AR X i |
B BEOR (EREEECSITN 2 HAE N B Z MR E
$°000 $°000 $’000 $’000 $’000
N S Tz FC FC
Lease liabilities & & 1& 103 65 - 168 164
Trade and other  JEAH IR 5 &
payables o Ath 1 AT 3 35,703 - - 35,703 35,703
35,806 65 - 35,871 35,867
All the Group’s forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding at AEEP R U R - T HAEZA
31 March 2024 and 2025 are gross settlement contracts. Contracts =t HRAPMmBINES YR
due to settle within 12 months require undiscounted contractual Dy A EHz2EH - R TZMARN
cash inflows of $27,659,000 and outflows of $27,602,000 (2024: R AT ZRMBEAHBHERA
inflows of $29,583,000 and outflows of $29,360,000). 27,659,000t K& Bl 4 i +27,602,0007C

(=& U4 - Bl A29,5683,0007T M Hi
& 1129,360,0007C) ©

(¢) Interest rate risk ORI ES:1:
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from lease liabilities. AEBAZRE FEFEAHEAE 28
Lease liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to the fair value i I= = e e SR T S /A =R I e
interest rate risk. The effective interest rates of the Group’s lease fg o A —FE _HF=H="T—HAELHW
liabilities as at 31 March 2025 is 4.2% (2024: 4.2%). HEAMZEREFE54.2% (ZF P4 :
4.2%) -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

@)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euros,
United States dollars (“USD”), Pounds Sterling, Hong Kong dollars
(*HKD”) and Renminbi.

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in the USD/HKD exchange rate.
However, management acknowledges that the Group is exposed to
fluctuations in the exchange rates for other currencies.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency
risk arising from committed future sales denominated in Euro. At 31
March 2025, the Group had forward exchange contracts with a net
fair value of $57,000 (assets) (2024: $223,000 (assets)), recognised
as derivative financial instruments (see note 17).

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong
dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

26.

(i)

S 5 I g 4 B B ik TR 2 AP
i (A7)
BT

A G W R i B W R B E R A B R
Jit ¥ K B e £ W LA AN 6 AN W T E
HOE A5 T R R UK A R AR &
Bl e &% o 51 Bot JE R R 9 B % T 2 R K
B~ FRoU - B TR ARM

P s T B SR T B AR SR I £ T,
0 BE A A & A R E) o A B
Jig 8 F > A% A I T S LAt £ I R A ) 19
JE B o

A 42 [0 ) P 70 A1 TE 4 4 3B I R DA KT &
B2 R R A B T R B R L o
CECHFEZA=Z—H o AEEZEHY
AN HE A &) 22 08 T-AE (B I 58 £ 57,0000C0 (&
BE) (& P4 223,000 (K E)) B
R AN A4S TR (BHME17) -

R Z 1M

NARGEIIA G W A A PR 2 2 B R
B o a%SF B WRLBR T IR BT O B 2 T RR
EERAMUZERIEER LI B
wE T ZE AR o A B BB AR 3 2 B S $0
AEAS B 2 RV RE AR s AR 25 2

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

TREZIMHBR (gt
2025 2004
ot Sk L CRCNE

United Hong United Hong

Pounds  States Kong ~ Pounds  States Kong

Sterling  Dollars Euros Renminbi ~ Dollars  Sterng  Dollars Euros  Renminbi Dollars

(Y *i KE ARK o &5 ¥ BE OARE i

$000  $000  S000  goo0 oo  $oo0  $oo0  $000  $000  $000

i i i i i 7 7 7 7 7

Trade and other receivables TR ARk - 8162 8255 - - 1 0616 4817 15340 =

Cash and cash equivalents RERHEEED M2 48997 87% 33 26 1381 134818 1369 1,04 560

Bank deposits s - 118,26 - - - s s = = =

Trade and other payables ERRERRE RN (347 (9,209 (18) (106) - (363 (13,957) @ (1,009 =

Amounts due from/{to] group companies I/ () % B 4 7 5L - (13) - (199 - - (19 - P =
Net exposure arising from recognised ¢ F E fa? K Jt

assets and liabilties 0 H RN 495 166,167 16962  (1,710) 236 99 141464 6238 13082 560
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed
that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the
USD against other currencies.

26.

S B ML gt A B B 4k L H 2 A F
i (A7)

W B ()

(ii) BRI S

RSN R AR 2 BRBLAR s 18 (S fR B
A TR &5 5 HBE 3 2 5 AT AE A By (AR 4R
9 70 sk b 5 B K 2 ol KR B ) T EE A 2 B
M5 5 ) > 3lf O R A At R By 5 O A o i
UM > A 4R B R i o B 56 O 2 T R B
HAN B R 36 T 5 H A B W 2 B R 2 AT T 4
BRI ERYLE -

2025 2024

R L
Decrease/ Decrease/
(increase) (increase)
in loss after in loss after
tax and tax and
Increase/ increase/ Increase/ increase/
(decrease) (decrease) (decrease) (decrease)
in foreign in retained in foreign in retained
exchange rates profits exchange rates profits
i B 1% M 4 FR i 1% fies 12
WA (Bm) WY ()
WX L7/ B AR B ik A ME=R FF7 T A 88 v A
(F) Bim,/ (¥4) (FER) Hm, ()
% $°000 % $'000
A T At T T
Pounds Sterling LB 10% 35 10% 81
(10)% (35) (100% (81)
Euros A 10% 1,416 10% 521
(10)% (1,416) (10)% (521)
Renminbi NG 8% (114) 8% 871
(8)% 114 (8)% (871)
Hong Kong Dollars T 8% 14 8% 34
(8)% (14) (8)% (34)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit/(loss) after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and
receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2024.

B R P IIR M 2 &5 SRR B A L R T
2 A 4 A T O RE B W R B I R R A 5
B R M5 1 oo LU B2 51 2 H I BR AR
i A s 1) B RE #2252 R AR o

R 73 A T M1 % 5 ) e T S A A
6 M A &5 H R A I T A B R B A <
TH o 6 A S 1 AR 4 W [ AT i IH
JE SRR IE > 5% S CHE DL O 306 O 19 I e
BN B R EHE o 20 M S B AR i Sh
S I B 5 SR A 4R T B IR B W
HEMER - oI % T2 M
[F] 5 HESEAT o
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from certain
equity investments held for long-term strategic purposes measured
at FVOCI (see note 15).

The Group’s listed equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer-term growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations. They are listed on overseas
stock exchanges and are valued at the quoted market prices at the
end of each reporting period.

One of the Group’s unlisted equity investments is measured
at market comparison approach with reference to the market
capitalisation of comparable listed companies. It is assessed at
least bi-annually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together with an
assessment of its relevance to the Group’s long-term strategic
plans.

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of
10% (2024: 10%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments), the market capitalisation of comparable listed
companies (for the unlisted equity security measured at market
comparison approach), with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s other components of
consolidated equity as follows:

26. VU5 L 0 e A T BL 2 A P

U0 (&)

A £ 7R 32 55 T 32 3 L A B i A %
B (E A BR B B 2 355 R = 00 5 s 1 R A
e M W 2 5 B 2 M A B R B (2 PR B R
15) °

AL 2 bl R RE R R TR R
R T8 B E > 3 E ) B R B
B DL o AN i SN RS 2R 58 5 B £
T Sl 7 R 4 5 R T S W RS .

AR — 8 I b T R R i 2 TG %
5 sk st > 62 5 A] L b A A
T o HL R BLAT A 2 D — AT WK
TyRRRIA ML LT 2 R B A A
A Ak 2 T A S AR 4R [ 9 R 0 R s A
B A MK -

MW_Z_HE=ZA=1+—H - B H A
AR A AR EWS (AR LW
B R B FE O, W 10% (2%
T 10%) o B LR T4 AR TR
(A 3 77 35 L0k w00 JF I Tl A i
%) o AR RN, D A W AR A 2
HAb 4 B an T

2025 2024
ot St i TR YA
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in other in other
components components
of equity of equity
i 2 3L ik HE 4 HoAth
HLR B 4 AL 4y
B, (8A4) & m, ()
% $°000 % $000
iid: Tz F 7 1 T 7T
Change in relevant ] B JiE 7 5 4% b i %2
equity price risk ¥ 2Z Z#H) :
variable:
Increase o 10% 729 10% 1,602
Decrease R (10)% (729) (10)% (1,602)

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

26.

)
()

ToRE= A= —AILEE (WETH)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Equity price risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in other
components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or other relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

Fair value measurement
Financial instruments measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

26. S 5 o B 4 P B 4k T L 2 AP

()
(i)

et fei (4H)

JB A5 e Bt ()

TR O3 A B o (BUR TI 9 B B B
HACAB R By F M #H O R HEHE
B A E AR EN A EARET A Z
LA MZ% LTASAREERLEH
JRUR % M B Jm e > A 4R B 2 AR A HE R Y
At AL SR 9 5 B 2 L B IR B o IR
7 AR ) IS R R O 1 2 P (R (A A AR AR
SL G T i B At A B e By 2 B By 2 TR AR
HEEL B AR T AR ) > L A S AR R R A

AP
B 2T A 19 2 T
L B0

N R B A G R R A R R
EERF A ST H - AR s B )
HHE R SABRE [ 4 F & (7t 7 | BT B E
O V-8 T R0 B = R AR A

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2025 31 March 2025 categorised into 31 March 2024 31 March 2024 categorised into
REFTIA RZFZE
SHET-H REBZHE=N=1—H A=+ REFZME=A=1-A
TR TR SRUFHR ZATEE ATBEEMRAUTRA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
o-gh ASHN BEAN B-4H FIHE =40
$000 $1000 $1000 $000 $000 $1000 $1000 $000
i i i i 7z 7z 7z 7
Recurring fair value measurements 4 # f A Ffifia#
Assets: B
- Non-trading isted securities - R0 EER 3,636 3,636 - - 3211 3211 - -
- Unlisted equity securties - F LW RAER S 8,900 - - 8,900 14,942 - - 14,942
- Derivative financial instruments - &M TH 57 - 57 - 223 - 223 -

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into or out of
Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

BE_F_HFLE_F_NFE=H=1—
Hb4F B > 3R A e mh T HAE 5 — 80
BLES — SR 2 AR - B A = AR
A o AR R E AT EE
A B A W R A A B H T LR RS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE—
26.

“hE=A=+—HILFE (K& T

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value measurement (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

Valuation technique and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts in Level 2 is
marked to market by discounting the contractual forward price and
deducting the forward rate at the end of the reporting period. The
discount rate used is derived from the prevailing market interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

26. W0 M Be A L R G ik T L Z AP

AR ()
#% 4T A i 2 2 TR ()

TR = B W 5 T (A i 2 1y A 6L T 25
YLk ¢

72 A0 ME A 2 ST (B (38 A1) T RE B
B R EIEM > IR A B AR BT E
IR A o B BLA T 2 BUR 55 H BUAT T 3G
GRS =

58 B0 A 1 U OB

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range
2025 R THAR RSN LR R (]
Unlisted equity securities ~ 3F | i1 B 4 35 %5 Market-comparison Discount for lack 30%
approach of marketability
W R Bz T T AT R

At 31 March 2025, the fair value of unlisted equity investments
is determined using the price/earnings and enterprise value/
EBITDA ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of
marketability discount. The fair value is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability.

ATETHFEEZH A —H s B RRE
BN T EE R A g b A R E
¥/ W %5 A4 2E 8 EBITDA L 2R3 8 4%
Bz T R E A o A EAE S
fife = T 3 It A M T 0 R 1) AE R G

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range
2024 S RSN oK A B i 17
Unlisted equity securities  FE ETTBEHERE % () Adjusted net Discount for lack of 30%
assets value marketability
K REEFE WG REEdTmE
Minority discount 30%
D R £ 3T
(i) Market-comparison Discount for lack 30%
approach of marketability
HIFLRE Sz m G E T

116

At 31 March 2024, the fair value of unlisted equity investments
is determined using: (i) the net assets value adjusted for lack
of marketability discount and minority discount; (i) the price/
earnings and enterprise value/EBITDA ratios of comparable listed
companies adjusted for lack of marketability discount. The fair value
is negatively correlated to the discount for lack of marketability and
minority discount.

AR CPIEZHA =+ —H s I LR
R R 0 O T B (E R DAG) RS i 2 T 3 O
40 2R J b BORE 25 P 0 2 9 R M
(YA AT L 1 7 2 &) A9 1 4% i 25 A0 A 2
18 {8, EBITDALL 337 3 5 Hi = 7 15 37 4 v
PR E o A (8 B = 117 35 i E
PrH00 R0 BOHE 35 47 11 23 0 1) K L B B o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA BA A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE—T-_RF=A=+—HItFE (&)
26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR ~ 26. 3 %5 B B8 4% B J & i T L 2 A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS =R ENE
....... (CONMLINUEA) ||\ oot oo
(f) Fair value measurement (continued) ) A T-EE R (4)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) (i) &AM A2 T H (4)
It is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% in each of the ﬁﬁUT%IﬁTTgﬂm LG 3Ly | A
unobservable inputs, with all other variables held constant, would 5% > Hofh 2 B AR R AN B > I S A A T oA
have increased/decreased the Group’s other comprehensive %ﬁﬂﬁ(ﬁﬁi‘ﬁﬂ/iﬁi’)‘ﬂm\‘ :
income as follows:
2025 2024
SR AR e gy 111 K2 S
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in  Effect on other (decrease) in

Effect on other

Unobservable comprehensive unobservable  comprehensive
inputs income inputs Income
A B R Hfb&wm  ATBEEE Eﬁﬂiﬁ
Bim, (WA4) Wt i B wm, () Wi i 5
% $°000 % $°000
iEdA T B 5 I T
Discount for lack k= T 35 i 4 1%
of marketability Prinx 5 (653) 5 (1,067)
(5) 653 (5) 1,067
Minority discount 7> #HE 4 91 411 2% N/A N/A 5 (392)
N/A N/A (5) 392
The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair 5 RO B A R 4G R R AR N A B dn
value measurements are as follows: e
2025 2024
e X e Gy L1 EeS
$°000 $°000
T T 7T
Unlisted equity securities: I bR RERE S
At 1 April FAH—H 14,942 17,832
Net unrealised losses recognised in other A N R 5 B 4 TR A R
comprehensive income during the year H Al A T i £ A R (2,384) (2,890)
Disposal during the year EN (8,658) -
At 31 March w=H=1+—H 8,900 14,942

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of the Group’s
unlisted equity securities held for strategic purposes are recognised
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity securities, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is transferred
directly to retained earnings.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED #iL#4&4 B2
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 £ %R

A S5 B 45 AR SRS AR B JF b T b R R 2
HEH A A AT AT i A R 1R At A&
ﬁﬂ&cﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ AT ) AR
T 4 AR R AR > R H b A T i ik 2 B
ﬁ%”ﬁﬁ%‘%%ﬁé%%%{ﬁﬂ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. MBS LGB T H2Z AT

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS i (A7)

....... (CONHNUED) et e e

(f) Fair value measurement (continued) ) AR (4)

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments carried at other than fair value (i) BLI RV HEA IS £/ T2 4T
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried AEBEP F AER F JWE=H
at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair = H LB 55 A8 B A 5 AR Y 4 Rl
values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. = W3 T i =N R [ 1 LG Nz =

27. COMMITMENTS o 2LARME
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2025 not provided R_FEZAF=ZH=1T—H > HREHES
for in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: WP R A=A A 2 B ARSI R

2025 2024
SRR R AR
$°000 $°000
T FIr
Contracted for S K] - -
2025 2024
ZRThAR TETU4E
$°000 $000
T T 7T
The Group’s share of the capital K IE [ JE G B B Y
commitments of joint ventures: BRI
Contracted for S 816 363

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RiTH# KA BA 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-T-_RAF=RA=1+—HILFE (KET)

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

(a)

(b)

(¢)

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions:

Transactions with YGM Trading Limited and its subsidiaries

(a)

CEBIEALZERRY

WA 7 A Jf 75 % 2 H At o 7 BT BB 2 32 5 K
Z
BYGME % A B A vl X I W& A A

A ERAL > ACSR AT 52 DA R HOR B N £ 52

(“YGMT Group”) ([TYGMTH: M 1) 2% 5
2025 2024
ZER AR B~y 11t S
$°000 $000
T Fr
Sales of garment products B B AR E 244 767
Rental income received and receivable L A K JRE Wi ) S AR 4 i £ 3,000 4,320
Management fee received and receivable O i B e i 780 780

Building management fee received and 5 T R i e = 4 I

receivable 90 130

As certain directors and their associates are collectively the
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of YGMT
Group and the Group, the related party transactions in respect
of sales of garment products to YGMT Group and rental income
received and receivable from YGMT Group above constitute the
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Other transactions with YGMT Group are exempt from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are
provided in the section “Connected transactions” in the Directors’
Report.

P T  R A E 2 HE LFRE R YGMTE
W J AR B 1 2 PERERE SR (3 L BT BLI) -
RIE LTRSS 14AFE » DU E M YGMTEE [H]
B A EE N - E U B B YGMT4E [ A1
St 2 BB N LGRS o B
YGMTEE [ 2 H At 58 5y 7 1 # o A 78 3% IR
EHHAEAATE 2 B E TR - BT
RSB 14ATE JIr B3 RE (0 3% 2% 5 TR 28
G T sc S | — o

Balances due from/(to) related companies and joint ventures: (b) MEW, (HEAT) BE A K& B LERH :
2025 2024
SEOEE F N
Note $°000 $°000
bt 7 T Tz
Amount due from YGMT Group JHE Y GMT4E [ 3 I 132 137
Amount due to WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd.  BEAfWTCO07 Holdings
Pte Ltd.z A 0] (190) (254)
Amount due to JREASS S W BB 575 4% A1 PR 2 )
Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. FIH (i) (13) (13)
Notes: Mt it

0] WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. is related to the Group as it is held by a director
of the Group.

(i) Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wuxi No.1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the Group.

Transactions with key management personnel

All members of key management personnel are the directors of the
Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 6.

(c)

()  WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. B A< 4 @ —{i; # &
HEA - FIL > WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. A&
EHZBEANL -

(i) 0 I A AT DL ) A S I
B — W VA IR 2 2 VA B A -
EL-3 £ YN § RS ]

A EREMABYRAAFC#ESE > #
M CR Y EEe I R

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RiT#& 45 B A 6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_AF=A=t—HLLFE (UETH)

(a)

(b)

(o)

. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies
involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of other properties, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the other properties,
plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period to
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. When
indication of impairment is identified, management assesses the
differences between the carrying amounts and recoverable amounts
and makes provision for impairment loss. Any change in the
assumptions adopted in calculating the recoverable amount would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment loss and affect the
Group’s profit or loss in future years.

Impairment of interests in joint ventures

The management of joint ventures reviews the carrying amounts of
the other properties, plant and equipment of joint ventures at the
end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. When indication of impairment is identified,
management of joint ventures assesses the differences between the
carrying amounts and recoverable amounts and makes provision
for impairment loss. The management of Group also reviews the
impairment assessment. Any change in the assumptions adopted in
calculating the recoverable amount would increase or decrease the
provision for impairment loss and affect the Group’s share of profit
or loss of joint ventures and interest in joint ventures in future years.

Valuation of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties requires various assumptions
and factors relevant to the valuation. The Group engages an
independent professional qualified valuer to conduct an annual
revaluation of the Group’s investment properties based on
assumptions agreed between the Group and the valuer prior to
adoption. The details of valuation of investment properties are
disclosed in note 11(b).

. IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

At 31 March 2025, the directors consider the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

29.

(a)

(b)

(c)

1l A B B Al it

A B2 AR A 7 A AR 5 B AR DLR
Jor 7 B4 3 B wH BOR B R G ) B
A &t o

FeAb W3 - W5 B it il WA

A SR W B — A X o B H M 4 2 -
i b5 B e 2 MR TH B DL IR E R A & B
A 45 B B R o R (U R
SE W o 7 T ST Al MR TR B AT i R R 2
] B 25 B> 7 w42 B (s R #8 Ah o wH AR AT
W [e] < B P PR 2 MR s A AT AT S ) -
38 T w0 e R A M AR
RAAEJE Z R 4

T 8 A 3 B 2 0 A

B8 A SR B A R B 5 A
SEH A S ~ DS Bt O R T (E - DA
SE e AT AE B BLBE R - H BUE P R W
Tl 72 IR > 5 7 A S LR Al LR T (L
ST i ] < R 2 TR R 2 RN R AR R (E 45
fli o 7 52 B B RGO 7 B B8l (AT AL o HOE
A [ < BT RO 9 B % A AT AT B AL
B 0 B D BE A R AR
TE AR A AF T A 5 5 A 26 3 1) 2 18 % fE
aEAEFRRER -

B2 A i

BUE W) S Al (B BR T SR (A B B0 45 JHLBL R
SR 2 o A AR T — 8 57 S AR Y
AR AR > A R A I 5 A 4 I BEL At 1B T B
SE I W2 S R B L BUE W) AT A T AT
fili o BBy A (8 7 I MR 11 (o) B ER

MROFERAEZH=Z+—H > BERBLAAR
S 2 B4 MO A HE I AN £ A5 Chan Family
Investment Corporation Ltd (it B & BE 5
RSN
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BHE_T-_AFE=ZA=+—HIEE (L ETi)
31. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 31. 2 ) Jg i 2 B 5 R B 3%
....... FIN AN CIAL POS T ON | et
2025 2024
ZR AR T 4R
Note $°000 $°000
bt 7t T FC
Non-current assets I B %
Investment properties wEyk 237,349 245,566
Other property, plant and equipment H A2 ~ BB Bk A 87,167 97,922
324,516 343,488
Intangible assets T 2,093 2,187
Investments in subsidiaries R} &g 2y w] & 77,868 78,288
Interests in joint ventures AR A S AR 230,818 230,818
Other financial assets HoAth 45 b & = 12,536 18,153
.. 647831 672,934
Current assets iﬁ@bﬁ%
Inventories & 2,424 1,299
Trade and other receivables E g 2 &EWJWEWTA 9,604 17,790
Amounts due from subsidiaries R A of i 2 D K - -
Amounts due from related companies JRE Wi B ?fii//}ﬁj%’xlﬁ 132 137
Bank deposits RATAE K 154,225 115,517
Cash and cash equivalents e X% EY 70,052 88,886
... 206437 228,629
Current liabilities U RER
Trade and other payables JRE AT B S R H Ath, JBE A5 3k 8,092 9,940
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE AT B JE 2 7] 3Kk IH 36,711 11,535
Amounts due to a related company JEAS — B 2N | O 190 254
Amounts due to a joint venture JEAT — & A 2E I 13 13
Current tax payable JREAST A B B TH 95 95
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 45101 21,837
Net currentassets G@veEsE 0 191,836 201,792
Total assets less current liabilities WEMBMENOAS 00 839,167 874726
Non-current liabilities I B 13 4%
Provision for employee benefits i & 4@ A 22 529 628
Deferred tax liabilities R S0 A T A 6,590 11,148
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 7119 11,776
NET ASSETS ¥ 7 i 832,048 862,950
CAPITAL AND RESERVES A K gtk 25(a)
Share capital i@ 208,418 208,418
Reserves fiti i 623,630 654,532
TOTAL EQUITY i £ 8 A 832,048 862,950
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 WEFON T REANA T HH B
June 2025. wx%%‘é#ﬁiﬁu&% S
Chan Wing Fui, Peter Chan Suk Man Pl K %= A Bl IR
Chairman Managing Director ey A A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T_hF=A=t—HLLFE (KET)

32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amended standards, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

N.HKE _F_HE=ZH=1+—HI:
AR B O A A AV 0 R A i A ET -
roHE A R Rk R ) 6B OB B 0 S =

HEAMBHREZRZH > FEgams
7O M TIHEERTEN > ZF BT R
WE X -RAEZH =1+ HILFEEM R
PR AR B B $RR AR A SR AR AE R o
R AR ERMT -

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on B S % 8 it 30 T
or after DR L
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of T HERH B 1 January 2025 = F_H4E—H—H
changes in foreign exchange rates - Lack of — A}MEEF &) 2 B2 —f Z ]
exchangeability S Mt
Amendments to HKAS 9, Financial instruments & # & 5t R 450498 > 55T > 1 January 2026~ —E - NE—H—H
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: S TR T s S E
disclosures — Amendments to the WTRZABE > 2T A -
classification and measurement of financial FE—l T AR ERFEZ
instruments 7T
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting 7 ik [ 5 ¥ 4 HI e ) 2 45 1 January 2026 —FZNE—H—H
Standards - Volume 11 B e — 551146
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in s IS O SR 88% > A 1 January 2027 —F_t&HE—~H—H
financial statements HRAFH) 2T R 7%
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public B IR A 10%%  MEAF 1 January 2027  —“EF T LHE—~H—H

accountability: disclosures

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements, except for the application of HKFRS 18 which the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements is
expected to change.

IGAT -GV AR T

7 B2 [ IE 7E BT A5 0 fh 8 0 ) A% S R Y

TR B - B T A B i E SR 1858
AL G MBI ER 2 B9 K

WM A BT s At o B H AT 1k 2 A AR 2 R
AN EZ A R e P RN S O

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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GROUP PROPERTIES
% 8 4 3

Details of the major properties of the Group are as follows: AEMEEYELRFESWT ¢

Location % Existing use ik Term of lease  AIE4EM

Major properties held for investment

B ERHEZ LEY X

A portion of the Building H Commercial [EES Medium-term A 4
22 - 24 Tai Yau Street JUHE M i e KA

San Po Kong, Kowloon 22 - 24%%

Hong Kong AR

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RiT#& 45 B A 6
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
FFEHME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(L BT
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
SR ZROCF SR EF ZFCNE ZZTHA
$'000 $'000 $°000 $°000 $7000
T T T T Tr
Results X4
Revenue A 420,475 390,446 365,761 234,302 186,431
(Loss)/profit from operations e (ks18) /i A (22,457) (13,064) 18,738 653 (19,687)
Finance costs Tl Bl A (3,594) (3,108) (1,600 (865) (760)
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures ~ HE{h & & 2% A/ (E5148) 6,433 43,788 (39,198) (39,615) (39,028)
Impairment losses on other property, plant HAti4) % - B FE &
and equipment A W S 4R (11,063) - - - -
Net valuation gains/(losses) on investment Ht &M i,/
properties (1) 8 1,727 4,048 1,562 (11,844) (6,843)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT G5 1),/ A1 (28,954) 31,664 (20,498) (51,671) (66,318)
Income tax credits/(expenses) i Bidk e,/ (L) 303 (1,390) (2,751) 3,499 6,440
(Loss)/profit for the year AR OBR) B A (28,651) 30,274 (23,249)  (48,172)  (59,878)
Attributable to: 358 B %
Equity shareholders of the Company RNV R A A (27,822) 30,665 (23,249) (48,172) (59,878)
Non-controlling interests I 1 TR Mg s A (829) (391) - - -
(Loss)/profit for the year AR (FR) B (28,651) 30,274 (23,249)  (48,172)  (59,878)
Assets and liabilities % Rk
Investment properties, other property, BEWE - L -
plant and equipment and leasehold land 7 K skl M AL & 4 281,735 285,053 281,885 265,597 234,542
Intangible assets Y & 2,795 2,700 2,605 2,187 2,092
Interests in joint ventures AR 527,699 590,493 515,923 450,660 409,860
Other financial assets ot 4 19,541 20,209 19,824 18,153 12,536
Prepayments for the other property, HibW - BE &
plant and equipment AR TR R 3,993 - - - =
Net current assets G P 316,083 305,396 317,303 308,974 315,478
Total assets less current liabilities B AR B B 1,151,846 1,203,851 1,137,540 1,045,571 974,508
Non-current liabilities J i 0 (38,463) (33,857) (29,355) (22,383) (14,226)
Net assets x| 1,113,383 1,169,994 1,108,185 1,023,188 960,282
Share capital (&N 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418
Reserves A 906,623 961,576 899,767 814,770 751,864
Total equity attributable to equity B F58 Bt 1 A A ) IR HE
shareholders of the Company A e 4% 1,115,041 1,169,994 1,108,185 1,023,188 960,282
Non-controlling interests I T IR S 45 (1,658) = = = -
Total equity BE 23 A4 1,113,383 1,169,994 1,108,185 1,023,188 960,282
Per share basis )R & A
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings G IREA R
per share (fE1R) /B A (HK$0.13)  HK$0.15  (HK$0.11)  (HK$0.23)  (HK$0.29)
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